¢-STRUCTURE OF BASIC REPRESENTATION OF AFFINE ALGEBRAS

Benedikt König

Max-Planck-Institut für Gravitationsphysik (Albert-Einstein-Institut) Am Mühlenberg 1, DE-14476 Potsdam, Germany benedikt.koenig@aei.mpg.de

This article presents a new relation between the basic representation of split real simply-laced affine Kac-Moody algebras and finite dimensional representations of its maximal compact subalgebra \mathfrak{k} . We provide infinitely many \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations of the basic representation and we prove that these are all the finite dimensional \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations of the basic representation such that the quotient of the basic representation by the subrepresentation is a finite dimensional representation of a certain parabolic algebra and of the maximal compact subalgebra. By this result we provide an infinite composition series with a cosocle filtration of the basic representation. Finally, we present examples of the results and applications to supergravity.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Affine algebra and basic representation	6
3	Maximal compact subalgebra and representations	10
	3.1 Maximal compact subalgebra 3.2 Parabolic algebra	10
4	Compact subalgebra on basic representation	17
5	t-structure of basic representation	24
	5.1 \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations in basic representation	25
	5.2 Infinite composition series of basic representation	31
6	Examples and applications to supergravity	3 4
	6.1 Evaluation of projection	35
	6.2 General examples	36
	6.3 Projections of \mathfrak{e}_9 basic representation	39
\mathbf{A}	Representations of double parabolic algebra	45
в	Generalized summation	46
С	Definitions and Notations	47
D	Expansions in first orders	48
\mathbf{E}	Details in proofs	50

1 Introduction

Affine Kac-Moody algebras, which play an important role in mathematics and physics, are by definition complex, but allow for different real slices from real forms [1]. One of these real forms is the split real form in which the Chevalley-Serre generators are real, for example the resulting algebra is the real span of the Chevalley-Serre generators and it is called split real Kac-Moody algebra. The affine (split real) Kac-Moody algebras possess standard highest and lowest-weight representations which are fairly well studied [2]. Especially, for the basic representation $R(\Lambda_0)$ with fundamental weight Λ_0 associated to the affine node 0, there exists a realization in terms of vertex operators [2, 3, 4, 5]. Additionally, every split real Kac-Moody algebra is equipped with a Cartan-Chevalley involution that defines the maximal compact subalgebra of the Kac-Moody algebra as its fixed point subalgebra. For finite split real Kac-Moody algebras $\mathring{\mathfrak{g}}$, the maximal compact subalgebra is a not necessarily indecomposable Kac-Moody algebras $\mathring{\mathfrak{g}}$ and the associated Lie group is compact. These algebras are very well understood. However, the scenario is completely different for affine split real Kac-Moody algebras \mathfrak{g} , for which the infinite dimensional maximal compact subalgebra \mathfrak{k} is *not* of Kac-Moody type, but admits infinitely many non-trivial ideals and does not have a Borel decomposition, but rather a filtered structure. Nevertheless, in [6] defining relations of generators for \mathfrak{k} are developed and in [7] certain unfaithful finite dimensional representations, motivated by physics, are constructed, which is quite surprising since infinite dimensional Kac-Moody algebras do not have non-trivial finite dimensional representations.

This result is generalized to a comprehensive understanding of finite dimensional representations of \mathfrak{k} in terms of a (double) parabolic algebra \mathfrak{P} and a Lie algebra homomorphism ρ mapping \mathfrak{k} to \mathfrak{P} in [8] and Appendix A. The (double) parabolic algebra \mathfrak{P} has a parabolic grading and therefore it contains infinitely many ideals which allow for an algorithmic construction of finite dimensional representations. The pull back of ρ then defines ideals and representations of \mathfrak{k} , which preserve the parabolic grading. Thus, the finite dimensional representations of the maximal compact subalgebra \mathfrak{k} are quite different from the infinite dimensional representations of the affine split real Kac-Moody algebra \mathfrak{g} . Despite it, understanding the action of the maximal compact subalgebra on a representation of a split real Kac-Moody algebra reveals fascinating additional structure of the representations and has important applications.¹

For finite split real Kac-Moody algebras \mathring{g} , the complete information about the action of the maximal compact subalgebra $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ on a $\mathring{\mathfrak{g}}$ -representation is contained in the decomposition into irreducible $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ -representations, also known as branching. This is a standard technique of representation theory, because $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ is a finite Kac-Moody algebra and its representations are completely reducible. However, this is not the case for affine split real Kac-Moody algebras. Actually, due to the intriguing structure of the maximal compact subalgebra \mathfrak{k} and its representations, we do not even expect that a \mathfrak{g} -representation can be decomposed in a direct sum of simple or semisimple \mathfrak{k} -representations. Therefore, the best one may achieve is to find all \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations of a \mathfrak{g} -representation. But to our knowledge, very little is known about proper \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentation of highest-weight representation of \mathfrak{g} . Nonetheless, from physics applications (in particular supergravity in two dimensions), we expect that there exists proper non-trivial \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations of the

¹Lie algebra structure and fineness. For a Lie algebra \mathfrak{l} with a representation V, a \mathfrak{l} -structure of V is a family of \mathfrak{l} -representations $V_i \subset V$. For two \mathfrak{l} -structures A and B, we call A finer than B if $B \subset A$. If for a \mathfrak{l} -structure A holds $B \subset A$ for all \mathfrak{l} -structures B, we call A the finest \mathfrak{l} -structure.

basic representation. In this context, this work is a first step towards a comprehensive understanding of the \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations of highest weight representations of \mathfrak{g} and towards understanding possible infinite \mathfrak{k} -composition series of the highest weight representations.

Our main results is to reveal the complete/finest \mathfrak{k} -structure of the basic representation $\mathrm{R}(\Lambda_0)$ (level one representation, central charge one) of a split real untwisted simply-laced affine Kac-Moody algebra \mathfrak{g} , which is organized in three parts. First, for each $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ we provide an inequivalent \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentation $W_N \subset \mathrm{R}(\Lambda_0)$ with finite co-dimension as the kernel of a surjective \mathfrak{k} -homomorphism G_N from the basic representation to the finite dimensional \mathfrak{k} -representation $\mathrm{Ver}_R(N)$, such that \mathfrak{k} commutes with G_N . Therefore, G_N is a projection onto $\mathrm{Ver}_R(N) \simeq \mathrm{R}(\Lambda_0)/W_N$, where $\mathrm{Ver}_R(N)$ is truncated Verma module of a certain 'parabolic Heisenberg algebra' with generators R. We provide the representations $\mathrm{Ver}_R(N)$ and the projection G_N explicitly.

Second, we show that all \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations of the basic representation, for which the quotient of the basic representation by the subrepresentation is equivalent to a finite dimensional \mathfrak{P} -representation are equivalent to W_N or a subrepresentation of W_N for some $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

Third, we provide the cosocle filtration (definitions are provided in Appendix C) of the basic representation under \mathfrak{k} and we show that the cosocle filtration is an infinite composition series. It implies that as a vector space the basic representation is equivalent to a sum of infinitely many finite dimensional semisimple \mathfrak{k} -representations. For the convenience of the reader, we provide these results in form of a theorem here, but for which it is necessary to refer to concepts in the main text.

Theorem 1. For \mathfrak{g} a split real untwisted simply-laced affine Kac-Moody algebra with maximal compact subalgebra \mathfrak{k} and basic representation $R(\Lambda_0)$ the statements a, b and c hold.

- a.) For all $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, there exists a finite dimensional \mathfrak{k} -representation $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ given in Proposition 15 and a surjective \mathfrak{k} -homomorphism $G_N : \operatorname{R}(\Lambda_0) \to \operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ in (5.8), which commutes with \mathfrak{k} and projects $\operatorname{R}(\Lambda_0)$ onto $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$. The kernel of G_N is a proper non-trivial \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentation $W_N = \operatorname{Ker}(G_N) \subset \operatorname{R}(\Lambda_0)$.
- b.) If $R(\Lambda_0)$ projects onto a finite dimensional \mathfrak{k} -representation which is also a \mathfrak{P} representation by ρ in (3.16), then there exists an $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that this representation is equivalent to $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ or to a quotient of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ by a subrepresentation.
- c.) The family $(W_N)_{N \in \mathbb{N}}$ of \mathfrak{k} -invariant subspaces in $\mathbb{R}(\Lambda_0)$ is the infinite composition series of $\mathbb{R}(\Lambda_0)$ with a cosocle filtration (definitions in Appendix C).

These results find fascinating applications in physics. (Gauged) supergravity theories in various dimensions are an important class of theories describing fundamental interaction and their mathematical structure is governed by Kac-Moody algebras [9]. While the bosonic fields of the theories take values in representations of the split real Kac-Moody algebra, the fermionic fields take values in representations of its maximal compact sub-Therefore, supersymmetry, a symmetry between fermions and bosons, maps algebra. between representations of the split real Kac-Moody algebra and its compact subalgebra. This makes it necessary to understand how representations of the Kac-Moody-algebras project onto representations of the maximal compact subalgebra. Supergravity theories in $D \geq 3$ have finite Kac-Moody symmetries and therefore the representation theory and the branching rules necessary to understand these theories are known. This makes it also possible to extend these supergravity theories to gauged supergravity theories. However, in D = 2 dimensions, the supergravity theory has an (on-shell) affine Kac-Moody symmetry [10, 11, 9, 12, 13, 14], under which the scalar fields transform in the adjoint representation and the gauge fields transform in the basic representation [15]. While the adjoint representation is not a highest weight representation and the \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentation are understood, it is necessary to develop the \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentation of the basic representation to understand the supersymmetry of the gauge fields. Therefore, the full gauged supergravity theory in D = 2 dimensions has not been constructed yet. Nevertheless a specific example is given in [16] and the purely bosonic sector is derived in [15, 17, 18,19, 20. The result of this work is the next step to derive the full gauged supergravity theory in two dimensions. In a related context, the results find applications in teleparallel gravity in two dimensions [21].

This work is a starting point for further considerations in this direction in mathematics and physics. First, using the vertex operator construction for non-simply-laced affine Kac-Moody algebra [22], we expect our construction and results to extend to the basic representation of non-simply-laced affine Kac-Moody algebras. Second, in a more sophisticated development, our construction may be generalized to all highest-weight representations of affine Kac-Moody algebras. This may be achieved using the DDF construction [23] for further highest-weight modules of affine algebras, which is similar to the vertex operator realization. Third, understanding the \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations of highest weight representations of an affine Kac-Moody algebra paves the way to understand hyperbolic Kac-Moody algebras under the action of its maximal compact subalgebra. This is because a hyperbolic Kac-Moody algebra decomposes into sums of highest-weight representations of the associate affine Kac-Moody algebra [24, 25, 26]. However, this is clearly quite a challenging undertaking since there remains a lot to discover for hyperbolic Kac-Moody algebras [27] but the result has important applications in physics. For instance, it is expected that hyperbolic Kac-Moody algebras are the underlying mathematical structure of space-time [28, 29, 30, 31] governed by physical theories with hyperbolic symmetry [32, 33]. However, to fully describe these theories, the action of the maximal compact subalgebra on the hyperbolic Kac-Moody algebra must be understood. But even before this is fully achieved, our results have applications to these models, because (gauged) supergravity in two dimensions may serve as a toy model to understand the mechanism of how space time emerges from an indefinite Kac-Moody symmetry.

Outline. Section 2 follows [2] closely to introduce the affine Kac-Moody algebras and the vertex operator realization for the basic representation. The maximal compact subalgebra of the Kac-Moody algebra is then defined in Section 3, which splits in two subsections. While Subsection 3.1 provides the definition and notation of the maximal compact subalgebra, in Subsection 3.2 we extend the construction of [8] to a double parabolic algebra and apply it to prove an identity for ideals and a certain group action on the double parabolic algebra. Prepared with these identities, we use Section 4 to analyze the action of the maximal compact subalgebra on the basic representation. This includes new notations and an important Proposition, which allows us to provide the finest *t*-structure of the basic representation and the infinite composition series in Section 5. In Subsection 5.1 we provide the infinite filtered set of \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations of the basic representation and the projection of the basic representation onto finite dimensional \mathfrak{k} representations. In Subsection 5.2 we show that the infinite set of \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations is indeed the infinite \mathfrak{k} -composition series of the basic representation with cosocle filtration. In the final section 6, we prove an identity to efficiently evaluate the projection of the basic representation onto finite dimensional *t*-representations. This identity allows us to analyze explicit examples of how to project the basic representation onto \mathfrak{k} -representations and about the *t*-subrepresentations of the basic representation. Finally, we emphasis on $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{g}(\mathfrak{g})}$ and its application to supergravity in two dimensions. In Appendix A we provide a construction of representations of the double parabolic algebra and Appendix B defines a generalizations of sums over polynomials. In Appendix C we provide frequently used definitions and notations as for example the definition of cosocle, cosocle filtration and infinite composition series. In Appendix D we provide concrete expressions for abstract objects used in this work and, for the convenience of the reader, we give supplementary details of certain proofs in Appendix E.

Acknowledgment. I would like to thank in particular Hermann Nicolai and Axel Kleinschmidt as well as Niklas Beisert, Martin Cederwall, Mattia Cesaro, Franz Ciceri, Alex Feingold, Matthias Gaberdiel, Jakob Palmkvist, Siddhartha Sahi and Henning Samtleben for useful discussions. Also, I like to thank Bernardo Araneda, Serena Giardino, Axel Kleinschmidt and Hermann Nicolai for helpful comments to and on the manuscript. Furthermore, I would like to thank the Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung for founding and supporting me on this work and the IMPRS for Mathematical and Physical Aspects of Gravitation, Cosmology and Quantum Field Theory for the support.

2 Affine algebra and basic representation

This section introduces the infinite dimensional untwisted affine Kac-Moody algebras and its simplest highest-weight representation, the basic representation. Details of definitions and proofs are in [2].

Let $A = (a_{ij})_{0 \leq i,j \leq r}$ be an untwisted symmetric affine generalized indecomposable Cartan matrix of rank r over \mathbb{C} and let $\mathring{A} = (a_{ij})_{1 \leq i,j \leq r}$ be the finite Cartan matrix of the same type and rank r. Let \mathfrak{g} be the split real form of the affine Kac-Moody algebra $\mathfrak{g}(A)$ and $\mathring{\mathfrak{g}}$ the split real form of the finite Kac-Moody algebra $\mathfrak{g}(\mathring{A})$. Then \mathfrak{g} is isomorphic to the loop algebra $\mathcal{L}(\mathring{\mathfrak{g}})$ of the Lie algebra $\mathring{\mathfrak{g}}$ with a central extension K and a derivation d. This allows us to parametrize the affine algebra \mathfrak{g} in terms of the generators of $\mathcal{L}(\mathring{\mathfrak{g}})$, Kand d. Therefore, we first introduce the finite Lie algebra $\mathring{\mathfrak{g}}$.

Finite Lie algebra \mathring{g} . Let $(\mathring{h}, \Pi, \Pi^{\vee})$ be are realization of \mathring{A} . Then, $\Pi = \{\alpha^i\}_{1 \leq i \leq r}$ is the set of simple roots of \mathring{g} , Π^{\vee} is the set of dual simple roots, which is a basis of the Cartan subalgebra \mathring{h} and the Z-span of the simple roots is the root lattice $Q = \sum_{1 \leq i \leq r} \alpha_i \mathbb{Z}$. The root lattice admits a natural bilinear form $(\alpha_i | \alpha_j) = \mathring{A}_{ij}$. In terms of the bilinear form, the set of roots of \mathring{g} is $\Delta = \{\alpha \in Q \mid (\alpha | \alpha) = 2\}$. From now on, we usually use the Greek letters α, β for roots and γ, δ for elements of the root lattice. On the root space exists a cocycle [2], also called asymmetric function, $\epsilon \colon Q \times Q \to \{\pm 1\}$, which satisfies

$$\epsilon(\gamma + \gamma', \delta) = \epsilon(\gamma, \delta) \epsilon(\gamma', \delta)$$

$$\epsilon(\delta, \gamma + \gamma') = \epsilon(\delta, \gamma) \epsilon(\delta, \gamma')$$

$$\epsilon(\gamma, \gamma) = (-1)^{(\gamma|\gamma)}.$$
(2.1)

The Lie bracket can be defined in terms of the cocycle. To carry this out, let $\mathring{\mathfrak{g}}_{\alpha} \subset \mathring{\mathfrak{g}}$ be the root space of α and let $E^{\alpha} \in \mathring{\mathfrak{g}}_{\alpha}$ be an element of this root space, where we define for convenience $E^{\gamma} = 0$ for $\gamma \notin \Delta$. Let $H^{\gamma} \in \mathring{\mathfrak{h}}$ be the dual of $\gamma \in Q$ with respect to the bilinear form $(\cdot|\cdot)$, for example $\alpha(H^{\gamma}) = (\alpha|\gamma)$. Then, in terms of the two roots $\alpha, \beta \in \Delta$,

$$\begin{bmatrix} H^{\alpha}, H^{\beta} \end{bmatrix} = 0$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} H^{\alpha}, E^{\beta} \end{bmatrix} = (\alpha | \beta) E^{\beta}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} E^{\alpha}, E^{\beta} \end{bmatrix} = -\delta_{\alpha, -\beta} H^{\alpha} + \epsilon(\alpha, \beta) E^{\alpha + \beta}$$
(2.2)

defines a Lie bracket on \mathfrak{g} . The Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} is equipped with the Killing form κ which is symmetric, bilinear and invariant under the Lie bracket

$$\kappa(H^{\alpha}, H^{\beta}) = (\alpha|\beta) \qquad \kappa(H^{\alpha}, E^{\beta}) = 0 \qquad \kappa(E^{\alpha}, E^{\beta}) = -\delta_{\alpha, -\beta}.$$
(2.3)

This sets up the split real finite Lie algebra \mathring{g} , from which it is convenient to define the affine Kac-Moody algebra \mathfrak{g} .

Affine algebra \mathfrak{g} . The split real affine Kac-Moody algebra \mathfrak{g} can be parametrized in terms of the centrally extended loop algebra of \mathfrak{g} with an additional derivation. Henceforth, we use this parametrization for the affine Kac-Moody algebra. Therefore, if $\mathbb{R}[t, t^{-1}]$ are the Laurent polynomials in t, K the central element and d the derivation, then the loop parametrization of \mathfrak{g} is

$$\mathfrak{g} = \overset{\circ}{\mathfrak{g}} \otimes \mathbb{R}\left[t, t^{-1}\right] \oplus \mathbb{R}K \oplus \mathbb{R}d, \qquad (2.4)$$

where the first summand is the loop algebra. For the loop generators we use the notation $x_n = x \otimes t^n$ with $x \in \mathring{g}$ and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. The index *n* of the loop generators is called the *loop index*. In this parametrization, the Lie bracket of the affine Kac-Moody algebra is

$$[x_m, y_n] = [x, y] \otimes t^{m+n} + m\delta_{m, -n}\kappa(x, y)K$$

$$[d, x_m] = -mx_m$$

$$[K, x_m] = [K, d] = 0.$$
(2.5)

The affine algebra \mathfrak{g} has two subalgebras which are important for the rest of the paper. The first subalgebra is spanned by the loop generators of index 0. This subalgebra is isomorphic to the finite Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , which motivates to use the same symbol for it.

The second important subalgebra is the Heisenberg subalgebra. The *Heisenberg sub*algebra is the centrally extended loop algebra of the Cartan subalgebra²

$$\mathring{\mathfrak{h}} \otimes \mathbb{R}\left[t, t^{-1}\right] \oplus \mathbb{R}K = \left\langle H_n, \, K \, | \, n \in \mathbb{Z}, \, H \in \mathring{\mathfrak{h}} \right\rangle.$$
(2.6)

The affine algebra has no non-trivial finite dimensional representations. However, it has standard highest and lowest-weight representations. The 'simplest' highest-weight representation is the basic representation, which is the subject of the next paragraph.

Basic representation. The basic representation $R(\Lambda_0)$ of \mathfrak{g} is the infinite dimensional highest-weight representation with fundamental weight Λ_0 , where 0 is the index of the affine node. A realization of $R(\Lambda_0)$ is given in terms of vertex operators which is essential for the rest of this work. Therefore, this paragraph sets up the vertex operator representation and notation, following [2].

In the *vertex operator realization* of the basic representation, the representation space is

$$\mathbf{R}(\Lambda_0) = \mathbf{R}[Q] \otimes S\left(\bigoplus_{j<0} (\mathring{\mathfrak{h}} \otimes t^j)\right), \qquad (2.7)$$

where S is the symmetric algebra and $\mathbb{R}[Q]$ is the group algebra of the root lattice with the embedding $\gamma \mapsto e^{\gamma}$ for $\gamma \in Q$. Thus, the elements of the basic representation are

²The Heisenberg subalgebra is *not* the Cartan subalgebra of \mathfrak{g} .

parametrized in a tensor product of the root lattice Q and polynomials in roots with an additional negative subscript

$$\mathbf{R}(\Lambda_0) = \langle e^{\gamma} \otimes f \mid \gamma \in Q, \ f \in \mathbb{R}\left[\{ \alpha \in \Delta \}_{-\mathbb{N}} \right] \rangle \ . \tag{2.8}$$

Here and in the following, using the notation in (C.1), $f = f(\{\alpha \in \Delta\})$ is always a polynomial of the roots with an additional negative index.

To introduce the action of \mathfrak{g} in the vertex operator realization of the basic representation we introduce a representation of the indexed roots. For each $\alpha \in \Delta$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the negative indexed root α_{-n} acts by multiplication on f and the positive indexed root α_n acts as a derivative on f with

$$\alpha_n \cdot \beta_{-m} = n \delta_{n,-m}(\alpha | \beta).$$
(2.9)

Using this action, the *vertex operator* acts on the states in the basic representation by

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}(z) \ (e^{\gamma} \otimes f) = z^{(\alpha,\gamma)} \epsilon(\alpha,\gamma) \ e^{\gamma+\alpha} \otimes \left(e^{\sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{z^k}{k} \alpha_{-k}} \ e^{-\sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{z^{-k}}{k} \alpha_k} \right) f \ . \tag{2.10}$$

This vertex operator action, allows to define the basic representation $\mathfrak{g} \to \operatorname{End}(\operatorname{R}(\Lambda_0))$. For all $\alpha \in \Delta$, $\gamma \in Q$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$ the basic representations is given by

$$E_n^{\alpha} \mapsto \Gamma^{\alpha}(z)\Big|_{z^{-n-1}},$$

$$H_n^{\alpha}(e^{\gamma} \otimes f) \mapsto \begin{cases} (\alpha, \gamma) (e^{\gamma} \otimes f) & \text{for } n = 0 \\ e^{\gamma} \otimes \alpha_n f & \text{for } n \neq 0 \end{cases},$$

$$K \mapsto 1$$

$$d \mapsto \sum_{i,j=1}^r \left(\frac{1}{2} H_0^{\alpha^i} \mathring{A}_{ij}^{-1} H_0^{\alpha^j} + \sum_{n \ge 1} H_{-n}^{\alpha^i} \mathring{A}_{ij}^{-1} H_n^{\alpha^j} \right)$$
(2.11)

where $|_{z^n}$ is the projection of a polynomial in z, z^{-1} on the coefficient of z^n in the monomial basis $(z^k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$. The central element multiplies with the central charge one, also known as level one, and the eigenvalue of the derivation d on a state is the loop level of this state. This fixes our notation of the basic representation. However, at the end of the section, we add some useful comments and frequently used notation on the vertex operator action. The vertex operator action takes a particular simple form in terms of Schur polynomials on the states $e^{\gamma} \otimes 1 \in \mathbb{R}(\Lambda_0)$. Therefore, let us introduce the notion of these states and the conventions of Schur polynomials in this work. Schur polynomials and maximal states. For each $N \in \mathbb{Z}$ and the set notation $\{\alpha\} := \{\alpha_{-k} \mid k \in \mathbb{N}\}$, the *Schur polynomial* $S_N(\{\alpha\})$ is defined by the expansion ³

$$\sum_{N \ge 0} z^N S_N(\{\alpha\}) = e^{\sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{z^n}{n} \alpha_{-n}},$$

$$S_{n \le -1}(\{\alpha\}) = 0, \qquad S_0(\{\alpha\}) = 1, \qquad S_1(\{\alpha\}) = \alpha_{-1}, \dots$$
(2.12)

The first few Schur polynomials are provided in (D.3). Two important identities for Schur polynomials derive from (2.12) by differentiation. Differentiating (2.12) w.r.t. α_{-n} and w.r.t. z gives for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$

$$\frac{\partial S_N(\{\alpha\})}{\partial \alpha_{-n}} = \frac{1}{n} S_{N-n}(\{\alpha\}), \qquad NS_N(\{\alpha\}) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \alpha_{-n} S_{N-n}(\{\alpha\}). \tag{2.13}$$

The Schur polynomials substantially simplify the action of the vertex operators on maximal states. Therefore, let us define these states.

A state of the basic representation is called *maximal state* if it vanishes under the action of the positive indexed Heisenberg generators. This set of maximal states is

$$\langle e^{\gamma} \otimes 1 \in \mathbf{R}(\Lambda_0) \mid \gamma \in Q \rangle.$$
 (2.14)

By the definition of maximal states, the right exponential in the vertex operator acts trivial and therefore, for $m \in \mathbb{Z}$, the action of E_m^{α} on a maximal state $e^{\gamma} \otimes 1$ takes a closed simple form in terms of Schur polynomials

$$E_m^{\alpha} e^{\gamma} \otimes 1 = \epsilon(\alpha, \gamma) e^{\gamma + \alpha} \otimes S_{-m - (\gamma, \alpha) - 1}(\{\alpha\}).$$
(2.15)

On these states it is convenient to evaluate the action of the Heisenberg algebra. For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, two often used relations for the action of the Heisenberg algebra are

$$H_n^{\alpha} \left(e^{\gamma} \otimes S_N(\{\alpha\}) \right) = 2 e^{\gamma} \otimes S_{N-n}(\{\alpha\}),$$
$$e^{\gamma} \otimes S_N(\{\alpha\}) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^N H_{-n}^{\alpha} e^{\gamma} \otimes S_{N-n}(\{\alpha\}), \qquad (2.16)$$

which derive straightforward from (2.11) and (2.13).

In this section we introduced the affine algebra and the basic representation in terms of the vertex operator realization. We present the maximal compact subalgebra of the affine algebra in the next section.

³In most literature, the Schur polynomials $S_{\lambda}(y_1, y_2, ...)$ are symmetric polynomials in the variables y_i and are defined in terms of a partition λ of N. This is related to our definition of Schur polynomials. Setting $\lambda = (N)$ and rewriting the Schur polynomial $S_{\lambda}(y_1, y_2, ...)$ in terms of symmetric power polynomials $\alpha_{-j} = \sum_i y_i^j$ gives the Schur polynomials $S_N(\{\alpha\})$.

3 Maximal compact subalgebra and representations

Here, we introduce the maximal compact subalgebra of an affine Kac-Moody algebra and the parabolic algebra [8]. The maximal compact subalgebra of an affine algebra is not of Kac-Moody type, for example it admits infinitely many ideals. These ideals allow for finite dimensional representations of the maximal compact subalgebra, which where developed in [7, 8, 34]. This section provides the necessary identities and notation to analyze the action of the maximal compact subalgebra on the basic representations.

In Subsection 3.1 we define the maximal compact subalgebra as the fixed point set of the Cartan-Chevalley involution. In Subsection 3.2 we extend the results of [8] to a double parabolic algebra and a Lie algebra homomorphism from the maximal compact subalgebra to the double parabolic algebra. This Lie algebra homomorphism allows us to prove a generating identity for these ideals and derive the action of a certain group element on the parabolic algebra.

3.1 Maximal compact subalgebra

In this section we introduce the maximal compact subalgebra of an affine Kac-Moody algebra and the notation of the maximal compact subalgebra for this paper.

The maximal compact subalgebra of a split real Kac-Moody algebra is the fix point subalgebra of the Cartan-Chevalley Lie algebra involution. For the finite split real Lie algebra \mathring{g} and $\alpha \in \Delta$, the Cartan-Chevalley involution $\mathring{\tau}$ acts by

$$\mathring{\tau}(H^{\alpha}) = H^{-\alpha} = -H^{\alpha}, \qquad \mathring{\tau}(E^{\alpha}) = E^{-\alpha}.$$
(3.1)

The maximal compact subalgebra $\mathfrak{k} \subset \mathfrak{g}$ is the +1 eigenspace of $\mathfrak{\tau}$ and has strictly negative signature of the killing form. The -1 eigenspace is the non-compact orthogonal complement $\mathfrak{p} \subset \mathfrak{g}$ with strictly positive signature of the killing form.

Let us turn to the maximal compact subalgebra of the affine Kac-Moody algebra \mathfrak{g} . The Cartan-Chevalley involution τ of the affine algebra acts on the loop generators with the Cartan-Chevalley involution of the finite algebra and on the loop index it acts by inversion. On \mathfrak{g} , the involution is given by

$$\tau(H_n^{\alpha}) = -H_{-n}^{\alpha}, \qquad \tau(E_n^{\alpha}) = E_{-n}^{-\alpha}, \qquad \tau(K) = -K, \qquad \tau(d) = -d.$$
 (3.2)

The maximal compact subalgebra $\mathfrak{k} \in \mathfrak{g}$ is the +1 eigenspace subalgebra of τ and the -1 eigenspace is called the non-compact orthogonal complement $\mathfrak{p} \subset \mathfrak{g}$. In particular, the central element K and the derivation d are not in the maximal compact subalgebra, but for every $\alpha \in \Delta$ and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, the generators

$$\mathcal{E}_n^{\alpha} = E_n^{\alpha} + E_{-n}^{-\alpha}, \ \mathcal{H}_n^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \left(H_n^{\alpha} - H_{-n}^{\alpha} \right) \in \mathfrak{k}.$$
(3.3)

are in the maximal compact subalgebra. Not all of these elements are linearly independent, because $\mathcal{H}_n^{\alpha} = -\mathcal{H}_{-n}^{\alpha}$ and $\mathcal{E}_n^{\alpha} = \mathcal{E}_{-n}^{-\alpha}$ and for a fixed *n* there are *r* independent \mathcal{H}_n^{α} . However, it is useful to have introduced the notation of \mathcal{H}_n^{α} and \mathcal{E}_n^{α} for all combinations of roots and integers, which also span the maximal compact subalgebra

$$\mathfrak{k} = \langle \mathcal{E}_n^{\alpha}, \mathcal{H}_n^{\alpha} \, | \, \alpha \in \Delta, \, n \in \mathbb{Z} \rangle \tag{3.4}$$

The Lie bracket is induced from the Lie bracket of \mathfrak{g} and for $\alpha, \beta \in \Delta, n, m \in \mathbb{Z}$ it is

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{H}_{m}^{\alpha}, \mathcal{H}_{n}^{\beta} \end{bmatrix} = 0$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{H}_{m}^{\alpha}, \mathcal{E}_{n}^{\beta} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} (\alpha | \beta) \left(\mathcal{E}_{n+m}^{\beta} - \mathcal{E}_{n-m}^{\beta} \right)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{E}_{m}^{\alpha}, \mathcal{E}_{n}^{\beta} \end{bmatrix} = -2 \left(\delta_{\alpha, -\beta} + \delta_{\alpha, \beta} \right) \mathcal{H}_{m+n}^{\alpha} + \epsilon(\alpha, \beta) \left(\mathcal{E}_{m+n}^{\alpha+\beta} + \mathcal{E}_{m-n}^{\alpha-\beta} \right).$$
(3.5)

Two comments on the structure of the Lie bracket are appropriate. First, the projection of the Heisenberg algebra to the maximal compact subalgebra is an abelian subalgebra, called the *compact Heisenberg algebra*

$$\langle \mathcal{H} \rangle \equiv \langle \mathcal{H}_n^{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Delta, \, n \in \mathbb{N} \rangle .$$
 (3.6)

By the Lie bracket relation (3.5) a product of compact Heisenberg generators on the right of \mathcal{E}_m^{α} is in the universal enveloping algebra equivalent to a finite sum of products of elements of the compact Heisenberg algebra $U_j \in \mathcal{U}(\langle \mathcal{H} \rangle)$ to the left of different elements $\mathcal{E}_{n_j}^{\alpha}$

$$\mathcal{E}_m^{\alpha} U = \sum_j U_j \mathcal{E}_{n_j}^{\alpha} \in \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{k}) \,. \tag{3.7}$$

The explicit form of U_j is not important for the purpose of the paper. However, we sketch the evaluation of U_j in Appendix E.

Second, the Lie bracket of the maximal compact subalgebra is not additive in the loop index of the generators and does not provide a Borel subalgebra, but admits a filtered structure. For example, the maximal compact subalgebra \mathfrak{k} is *not* of Kac-Moody type but admits infinite many ideals. These ideals are essential to construct finite dimensional representations of the maximal compact subalgebra in terms of the parabolic algebra [8].

3.2 Parabolic algebra

In this section we extend the (single) parabolic algebra in [8] to a double parabolic algebra and a Lie algebra homomorphism from the maximal compact subalgebra to this double parabolic algebra. We prove a proposition on the form of the ideals of the maximal compact subalgebra and elaborate on a certain group action on the parabolic algebra. To construct representations of the maximal compact subalgebra of an affine algebra, [8] constructs a (single) parabolic algebra together with two Lie algebra homomorphisms from the maximal compact subalgebra to this parabolic algebra. The parabolic algebra allows for an algorithmic construction of representations. By the pull back of the Lie algebra homomorphism these are also representations of the maximal compact subalgebra. However, these representations do not exhaust the set of all representations of the maximal compact subalgebra. In particular, the basic representation cannot be projected to these representations. To construct a larger set of representations of the maximal compact subalgebra, we generalize the (single) parabolic algebra of [8] to a double parabolic algebra to the double parabolic algebra. The general construction of representations of the double parabolic algebra is in Appendix A, these representations are pulled back with the Lie algebra homomorphism to representations of the maximal compact subalgebra. For the double parabolic algebra we prove two important propositions.

Let us define the double parabolic algebra. For the finite Lie algebra $\mathring{\mathfrak{g}}$ with compact subalgebra $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ and non-compact orthogonal complement $\mathring{\mathfrak{p}}$, for $\mathbb{R}\llbracket u^2 \rrbracket$ the formal power series in u^2 and for $\mathcal{C}_2 = \{1, r\}$ the group of order 2, the *double parabolic algebra* \mathfrak{P} is

$$\mathfrak{P} = \left(\mathring{\mathfrak{k}} \otimes \mathbb{R}\llbracket u^2 \rrbracket \otimes \mathcal{C}_2 \right) \oplus \left(\mathring{\mathfrak{p}} \otimes u \mathbb{R}\llbracket u^2 \rrbracket \otimes \mathcal{C}_2 \right).$$
(3.8)

The Lie bracket is multiplicative in the second and third factor of the tensor product and induced from \mathring{g} on the first factor

$$\left[x \otimes u^k \otimes r^m, y \otimes u^l \otimes r^n\right] = [x, y] \otimes u^{k+l} \otimes r^{m+n}.$$
(3.9)

For $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\alpha \in \Delta$, a parametrization of the double parabolic algebra is in terms of the generators⁴

$$P_{k,n}^{\alpha} = \left(E^{\alpha} + (-1)^{k}E^{-\alpha}\right) \otimes u^{k} \otimes r^{n},$$

$$R_{2k+1,n}^{\alpha} = H^{\alpha} \otimes u^{2k+1} \otimes r^{n}$$
(3.10)

with the Lie bracket in (3.9). The abelian subalgebra of the generators

$$\langle R \rangle \equiv \left\langle R^{\alpha}_{2k+1,n} \mid \alpha \in \Delta, \, k \in \mathbb{N}_0, \, 0 \le n \le 1 \right\rangle$$

$$(3.11)$$

is called the *parabolic Heisenberg algebra*, but analogous to the compact Heisenberg algebra it is *not* a Heisenberg algebra.

We give some comments on the single factors of the double parabolic algebra. The C_2 factor induces a natural \mathbb{Z}_2 grading on the double parabolic algebra. The level 0

⁴The generators which differ only by an even number in n are equal, however, this definition allows to drop many mod 2 symbols.

subalgebra with respect to this grading has elements $x \otimes u^m \otimes 1$, which is the *single parabolic algebra* in [8]. It allows to extend most results for the single parabolic algebra in [8] to the double parabolic algebra.

The second factor $\mathbb{R}[[u^2]]$, $u\mathbb{R}[[u^2]]$ has a graded structure in the power of u. This graded structure extends to the parabolic algebra and its universal enveloping algebra

$$\mathfrak{P} = \bigoplus_{l=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{P}_l, \qquad \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{P}) = \bigoplus_{l=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{P})_l.$$
(3.12)

The graded structure allows to identify ideals of the double parabolic algebra. For all $N \in \mathbb{N}$, the double parabolic algebra and its universal enveloping algebra have the ideals

$$\mathcal{I}_N = \bigoplus_{l=N+1}^{\infty} \mathfrak{P}_l, \qquad \mathcal{I}_N^{\mathcal{U}} = \bigoplus_{l=N+1}^{\infty} \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{P})_l.$$
(3.13)

The cosets of the double parabolic algebra and its universal enveloping algebra by these ideals are the quotient parabolic algebras

$$\mathfrak{P}^{N} = \frac{\mathfrak{P}}{\mathcal{I}_{N}}, \qquad \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{P})^{N} = \frac{\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{P})}{\mathcal{I}_{N}^{\mathcal{U}}}.$$
 (3.14)

Now, let us produce the Lie algebra homomorphism from the double parabolic algebra to the maximal compact subalgebra. In [8] a Lie algebra homomorphism from the (single) parabolic algebra to the maximal compact subalgebra is constructed. We extend this construction to a Lie algebra homomorphism from the maximal compact subalgebra to the double parabolic algebra. Therefore, we use that the generators of the maximal compact subalgebra (3.4) are a subset of the loop generators of \mathring{g} with variable t on which we define a Möbius transformation

$$t(u) = \frac{1-u}{1+u} \in \mathbb{R}[\![u]\!].$$
(3.15)

This Möbius transformation extends to a Lie algebra homomorphism ρ from the maximal compact subalgebra to the parabolic algebra [8].⁵

Proposition 2 (Extension of Proposition 5 in [8]). For each $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\alpha \in \Delta$, the map $\rho : \mathfrak{k} \to \mathfrak{P}$

$$\rho\left(\mathcal{E}_{n}^{\alpha}\right) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_{k}^{(n)} P_{k,n}^{\alpha}, \qquad \rho\left(\mathcal{H}_{n}^{\alpha}\right) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_{2k+1}^{(n)} R_{2k+1,n}^{\alpha}.$$
(3.16)

⁵ In [8] Lie algebra homomorphisms ρ_{\pm} from the maximal compact subalgebra to the single parabolic algebra are constructed from the Möbius transformation $t_{\pm}(u) = \frac{1 \pm u}{1 \pm u}$. Both homomorphisms map the maximal compact subalgebra differently to the single parabolic algebra. A tensor product of two representation of the single parabolic algebra which are pulled back by the different Lie algebra homomorphisms ρ_{+} and ρ_{-} to \mathfrak{k} -representations, is not a \mathfrak{k} -representation. The double parabolic algebra together with one Lie algebra homomorphism ρ solves this.

is an injective Lie algebra homomorphism. The coefficients $a_k^{(n)}$ are the coefficients of the power series expansion in (3.15) and are evaluated in [8]

$$a_{2k}^{(n)} = 2\sum_{\ell=0}^{n} \binom{2n}{2l} \binom{k-\ell+n-1}{k-\ell}, \quad a_{2k+1}^{(n)} = -2\operatorname{sign}(n)\sum_{\ell=0}^{n-1} \binom{2n}{2l+1} \binom{k-\ell+n-1}{k-\ell}.$$
(3.17)

The homomorphism ρ respects the even/odd grading of the loop level of \mathfrak{k} .

Remark 3. The coefficients $a_k^{(n)}$ satisfy two identities. For fixed $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the coefficients $a_k^{(n)}$ are polynomials in k of degree n-1. For fixed $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the coefficients $a_k^{(n)}$ are polynomials in n of degree k. The expansions of the first few elements in \mathcal{E}_n^{α} is in (D.1) Remark 4. For each $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the codomain of ρ can be quotiented by the ideal \mathcal{I}_N . This

defines the surjective Lie algebra homomorphisms

$$\rho^N : \mathbf{R}(\Lambda_0) \to \mathfrak{P}^N \tag{3.18}$$

by (3.16) but the summation from k = 0 to k = N resp. $k = \lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor$ [8].

Proof. The homomorphism ρ respects the even-odd grading of the loop index of the maximal compact subalgebra because $r \neq 1$, but $r^2 = 1$.

Setting $r = \pm 1$ reduces the homomorphism ρ to the injective Lie algebra homomorphisms ρ_{\pm} from the maximal compact subalgebra to the single parabolic algebra (see footnote 5). Because ρ_{\pm} are injective Lie algebra homomorphisms, also ρ is an injective Lie algebra homomorphisms.

For each $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the Lie algebra homomorphism ρ allows to identify ideals in the maximal compact subalgebra \mathfrak{k} as the inverse image of ideals \mathcal{I}^N in the parabolic algebra. For these ideals, we use the same symbol \mathcal{I}_N . While the ideals of the parabolic subalgebra derive immediately from the parabolic grading, the form of the ideals in the maximal compact subalgebra is more subtle. A generating identity for the ideals is subject of Proposition 5. In the proof of the proposition and also later in this work, we use an identity for sums of polynomials with binomial factors. Therefore, let us first give this identity globally and then use it to prove the proposition.

For $p \in \mathbb{R}[m]_{N-1}$ a polynomial in m of degree less then N, the binomial sum

$$\sum_{m=0}^{N} (-1)^m \binom{N}{m} p(m) = 0$$
(3.19)

vanishes. This follows by differentiating k times for $1 \le k \le N-1$ the binomial expansion of $(1 + x)^N$ w.r.t. x and then setting x to -1. With this identity, we prove the next proposition about ideals of the maximal compact subalgebra. A different formula for the same ideals is proposed in [35]. **Proposition 5** (Ideals). For all $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $\alpha \in \Delta$, $a \in \mathbb{N}$, $b, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ the elements

$$\sum_{m=0}^{N+a} (-1)^m \binom{N+a}{m} \mathcal{E}^{\alpha}_{n+2bm} \in \mathcal{I}_N, \quad \sum_{m=0}^{N+a} (-1)^m \binom{N+a}{m} \mathcal{H}^{\alpha}_{n+2bm} \in \mathcal{I}_N$$
(3.20)

of the filtered algebra are in the ideal \mathcal{I}_N .

Proof. For every $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $a \in \mathbb{N}$, $b, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ by identity (3.19) and Remark 3, the elements (3.20) are in the kernel of ρ^N

$$\rho^{N}\left(\sum_{m=0}^{N+a}(-1)^{m}\binom{N+a}{m}\mathcal{E}_{n+2bm}^{\alpha}\right) = \frac{1}{2}\sum_{k=0}^{N}P_{k,n}^{\alpha}\sum_{m=0}^{N+a}(-1)^{m}\binom{N+a}{m}a_{k}^{(n+2bm)} = 0 \quad (3.21)$$

The same holds for the second element in (3.20).

This identity of ideals in the maximal compact subalgebra is important to investigate finite dimensional \mathfrak{P} -representations. But before we can do so, let us prove a proposition about the action of certain group elements on the parabolic algebra at the end of this section.

Proposition 6. For all $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\alpha, \beta \in \Delta$, the group elements

$$\omega_{\alpha,N} = \exp\left(\sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{2}{2k+1} R^{\alpha}_{2k+1,0}\right) \in \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{P})^N$$
(3.22)

act on the parabolic algebra \mathfrak{P}^N by conjugation and satisfy

$$\omega_{\alpha,N}\rho^{N}\left(\mathcal{E}_{n}^{\beta}\right)\omega_{\alpha,N}^{-1} = \rho^{N}\left(\mathcal{E}_{n-(\alpha|\beta)}^{\beta}\right), \qquad \omega_{\alpha,N}\rho^{N}\left(\mathcal{H}_{n}^{\beta}\right)\omega_{\alpha,N}^{-1} = \rho^{N}\left(\mathcal{H}_{n}^{\beta}\right).$$
(3.23)

Remark 7. First, the exponential series in (3.22) truncates at parabolic level N. Second, the conjugation group action is the exponentialized adjoint Lie algebra action ad, which is used in the proof. Third, the Lie algebra homomorphism ρ resp. ρ^N acts group like on the universal enveloping and thus on the group exponentiation of the maximal compact subalgebra. Then, the group element $\omega_{\alpha,\infty}$ (defined properly later) may be interpreted as the Lie algebra homomorphism acting on the group element w_{α} of \mathfrak{g} which acts by

$$w_{\alpha} \mathcal{E}_{n}^{\beta} w_{\alpha}^{-1} = \mathcal{E}_{n-(\alpha|\beta)}^{\beta}, \qquad w_{\alpha} \mathcal{H}_{n}^{\beta} w_{\alpha}^{-1} = \mathcal{H}_{n}^{\beta}.$$
(3.24)

The relation of $\omega_{\alpha,N}$ to these group elements provides further inside in our construction but will not be used in this work.

Proof. We use that conjugation is the group action associated to the adjoint representation of the Lie algebra. The parabolic Heisenberg algebra is abelian which proves the action

of $\omega_{\alpha,N}$ on $\rho^N(\mathcal{H}_n^\beta)$. If $(\alpha|\beta) = 0$, $R_{2k+1,0}^\alpha$ commutes with $P_{l,a}^\beta$ which proves the action of $\omega_{\alpha,N}$ on $\rho^N(\mathcal{E}_n^\beta)$ for $(\alpha|\beta) = 0$.

For $(\alpha|\beta) \neq 0$ the adjoint map of the double parabolic algebra acts by

$$\mathrm{ad}(R_{2k+1,0}^{\alpha})^{m}P_{l,a}^{\beta} = (\alpha|\beta)^{m}P_{l+(2k+1)m,a}^{\beta}.$$
(3.25)

For n = 0 this gives

$$\exp\left(\sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{2}{2k+1} \operatorname{ad}(R_{2k+1,0}^{\alpha})\right) P_{0,0}^{\beta} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_k^{\alpha,\beta} P_{k,0}^j$$
(3.26)

where

$$c_k^{\alpha,\beta} = \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x} \right)^k e^{\sum_{l \ge 0} \frac{2(\alpha|\beta)}{2l+1} x^{2l+1}} \Big|_{x=0}.$$
 (3.27)

The coefficients $c_k^{\alpha,\beta}$ can be solved for $(\alpha|\beta) = \pm 1, \pm 2$. For $(\alpha|\beta) = \pm 2$ the coefficients are

$$c_0^{\alpha,\beta} = 1$$
 $c_k^{\alpha,\beta} = (\pm 1)^k 4k$. (3.28)

For $(\alpha, \beta) = \pm 1$ the coefficients $c_k^{\alpha, \beta}$ are

$$c_0 = 1$$
 $c_k = (\pm 1)^k 2.$ (3.29)

By (D.1), this proves the Proposition for n = 0. For n = -1 and (D.1), the left hand side evaluates to

$$\exp\left(\sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{2}{2k+1} \operatorname{ad}(R_{2k+1,0}^{\alpha})\right) \left(P_{0,1}^{\beta} + 2\sum_{k=0}^{N} (-1)^{k} P_{k,1}^{\beta}\right) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_{k}^{\alpha,\beta} P_{k,1}^{\beta}$$
(3.30)

with

$$c_k^{\alpha,\beta} = \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x} \right)^k \left(1 + 2\sum_{l=1}^N x^l \right) e^{\sum_{l\ge 0} \frac{2(\alpha,\beta)}{2l+1} x^{2l+1}} \Big|_{x=0}.$$
 (3.31)

For $(\alpha, \beta) = \pm 2, \pm 1$ the coefficients are

$$\begin{aligned} (\alpha, \beta) &= +2 \quad \to \quad c_0^{\alpha, \beta} = 1, \qquad c_k^{\alpha, \beta} = 2(1+2k^2), \\ (\alpha, \beta) &= +1 \quad \to \quad c_0^{\alpha, \beta} = 1, \qquad c_k^{\alpha, \beta} = 4k, \\ (\alpha, \beta) &= -1 \quad \to \quad c_0^{\alpha, \beta} = 1, \qquad c_k = 0, \\ (\alpha, \beta) &= -2 \quad \to \quad c_0^{\alpha, \beta} = 1, \qquad c_k^{\alpha, \beta} = (-1)^k 2. \end{aligned}$$
(3.32)

With (D.1), this proves the Proposition for n = 0 and n = -1. Assuming the Proposition holds for $n \leq N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, then by induction

$$\exp\left(\sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{2}{2k+1} \operatorname{ad}(R_{2k+1,0}^{\alpha})\right) \mathcal{E}_{N+1}^{\beta} = \left[\mathcal{H}_{1}^{\beta}, \exp\left(\sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{2}{2k+1} \operatorname{ad}(R_{2k+1,0}^{\alpha})\right) \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\beta}\right] + \exp\left(\sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{2}{2k+1} \operatorname{ad}(R_{2k+1,0}^{\alpha})\right) \mathcal{E}_{N-1}^{\beta} = \mathcal{E}_{N+1-(\alpha|\beta)}^{\beta}$$
(3.33)

the proposition holds for all $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$. The same induction argument applies to $-N \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

In this section we introduced the maximal compact subalgebra, the double parabolic algebra and a Lie algebra homomorphism form the maximal compact subalgebra to the double parabolic algebra. Using the double parabolic algebra, we proved Proposition 5 on the generating structure of the ideals \mathcal{I}_N and for the double parabolic algebra we provided the action of a certain group element.

4 Compact subalgebra on basic representation

The previous two sections put us in a good place to discuss the action of the maximal compact subalgebra on the basic representation. Therefore, we prove a number of propositions in this section, which are important to analyze the \mathfrak{k} -structure of the basic representation in the next section.

The maximal compact subalgebra acts on the basic representation by the induced action from the affine algebra. On maximal weights, the action of \mathcal{E}_n^{α} is given by

$$\mathcal{E}_{n}^{\alpha} e^{\gamma} \otimes 1 = \epsilon(\alpha, \gamma) e^{\gamma + \alpha} \otimes S_{-n - (\gamma, \alpha) - 1}(\{\alpha\}) + \epsilon(\alpha, \gamma) e^{\gamma - \alpha} \otimes S_{n + (\gamma, \alpha) - 1}(\{-\alpha\}).$$
(4.1)

Proposition 8 states two important properties for the action of the compact subalgebra on the basic representation.

Proposition 8. The action of the compact subalgebra \mathfrak{k} on a maximal state generates the entire basic representation. The action of the compact Heisenberg algebra on a maximal state generates all states with the same \mathfrak{g} weight:

- a.) $\forall X \in \mathbf{R}(\Lambda_0), \gamma \in Q \exists U \in \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{k}) : X = U(e^{\gamma} \otimes 1)$
- $b.) \qquad \forall \gamma \in Q, \ f \in \mathbb{R}[\{\alpha \in \Delta\}] \ \exists \mathcal{F}_f^{\mathcal{H}} \in \mathcal{U}(\langle \mathcal{H} \rangle) \ : \ e^{\gamma} \otimes f = \mathcal{F}_f^{\mathcal{H}}(e^{\gamma} \otimes 1).$

Proof. First, we show that every maximal state can be mapped to the highest state by repeated action of \mathfrak{k}

$$\forall \gamma \in Q \; \exists U' \in \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{k}) : \; e^0 \otimes 1 = U' \left(e^\gamma \otimes 1 \right). \tag{4.2}$$

W.l.o.g. assume $\gamma = \sum_{i=1}^{r} k_i \alpha^i$ with $k_i \ge 0$. Choose $1 \le j \le r$ s.t. $k_j \ne 0$ and $n = -(\gamma | \alpha^j) + 1 < 0$. Such j exists because $(\cdot | \cdot)$ is positive definite. Then, by equation (4.1)

$$\mathcal{E}_n^{\alpha^j} e^{\gamma} \otimes 1 = \epsilon(\gamma, \alpha^j) e^{\gamma - \alpha^j} \otimes 1.$$
(4.3)

The procedure repeats for $\gamma - \alpha^j$ and iteratively maps $e^{\gamma} \otimes 1 \in \mathbb{R}(\Lambda_0)$ onto the highestweight $e^0 \otimes 1$. It works analogous for $k_i \in \mathbb{Z}$. This shows (4.2).

By induction in the loop level of a state $X \in \mathcal{R}(\Lambda_0)$, we show that the basic representation is generated by the action of \mathfrak{k} on the highest-weight $\mathcal{R}(\Lambda_0) = \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{k}) e^0 \otimes 1$. Assume that for all $X \in \mathcal{R}(\Lambda_0)$ with dX = N'X for $N' \leq N \in \mathbb{N}$ holds $X \in \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{k}) e^0 \otimes 1$.

Let $Y \in \mathbb{R}(\Lambda_0)$ s.t. dY = (N+1)Y. Because $\mathbb{R}(\Lambda_0)$ is generated by the action of $\{T_n \in \mathfrak{g} \mid n \leq -1\}$ on the highest state it exists an $Y' \in \mathbb{R}(\Lambda_0)$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ with dY' = (N-n+1)Y' s.t. $Y = T_{-n}Y'$. Then, by assumption

$$Y = (T_{-n} + \tau(T_{-n}))Y' - \mathring{\tau}(T)_n Y' \in \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{k}) e^0 \otimes 1$$

$$(4.4)$$

This proves a. To prove b, we use that $\{ H_n^{\alpha} \mid n \leq -1, \alpha \in \Delta \}$ on a maximal state spans all states with the same \mathfrak{g}_0 . Then, the same induction proves b.

By Proposition 8, for a state $e^{\gamma} \otimes f(\{\alpha \in \Delta\})$ exists generating elements $\mathcal{F}_{f}^{\mathcal{H}} \in \mathcal{U}(\langle \mathcal{H} \rangle)$, which generates this state from the action on the maximal state $e^{\gamma} \otimes 1$. By the very definition of the generating elements, they satisfy for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\alpha \in \Delta$

$$\mathcal{H}_{n}^{\alpha}\mathcal{F}_{f}^{\mathcal{H}} = \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{H}_{n}^{\alpha}f}^{\mathcal{H}}.$$
(4.5)

Let us also introduce a short notation for the generating element $\mathcal{F}_{S_n}^{\mathcal{H}}$ of Schur polynomials, because the Schur polynomials are essential in the vertex operator algebra. The generating elements of the Schur polynomials are called \mathcal{H} -Schur polynomials and are defined by

$$S_n^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\}) = \mathcal{F}_{S_n(\{\alpha\})}^{\mathcal{H}} \in \mathcal{U}(\langle \mathcal{H} \rangle).$$
(4.6)

The action of a \mathcal{H} -Schur polynomial on a maximal state generates the state with the same \mathring{g} weight and the respective Schur polynomial. The \mathcal{H} -Schur polynomials satisfy a recursion identity

$$S_N^{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\}) = \frac{2}{N} \sum_{n=1}^N \left(S_{N-2n}^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\}) - \mathcal{H}_n S_{N-n}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\}) \right)$$
(4.7)

which derives from adding and subtracting H_n^{α} to (2.16) and which is used for proofs by induction. We prove the next lemma by induction on this identity. The lemma provides a closed expression for the \mathcal{H} -Schur polynomials and will be used to prove the last proposition in this section.

Lemma 9. For every $\alpha \in \Delta$, the H-Schur polynomials are given in the expansion

$$S_n^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\}) = \sum_{m=0}^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor} \exp\left(\sum_{l\geq 1} -\frac{2}{l}\mathcal{H}_l^{\alpha} x^l\right)\Big|_{x^{n-2m}}.$$
(4.8)

Remark 10. Evaluating the generating series in Lemma 9 gives the explicit form in terms of the sets $\mathcal{K}_n = \{ (k_1, \dots, k_n) \in \mathbb{N}_0^n \mid \sum_{l=1}^n lk_l = n \}$

$$S_{n}^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\}) = \sum_{m=0}^{\left\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \right\rfloor} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{n-2m}} \prod_{l=1}^{n-2m} \frac{1}{k_{l}!} \left(-\frac{2}{l} \mathcal{H}_{l}^{\alpha}\right)^{k_{l}}$$

$$= \sum_{M=0}^{n} \sum_{m_{1}=1}^{n} \sum_{m_{2}=1}^{n-m_{1}} \dots \sum_{m_{M}=1}^{n-m_{1}-\dots-m_{M-1}} r_{n}(m_{1},\dots,m_{M}) \prod_{i=1}^{M} \left(-\frac{2}{m_{i}} \mathcal{H}_{m_{i}}^{\alpha}\right)$$
(4.9)

where $r_n(m_1, \ldots, m_M)$ is the factorial factor from the exponential. If k_n is the multiplicity of the integer *n* appearing in the set $\{m_1, \ldots, m_M\}$ then, *r* is given by

$$r_n(m_1, \dots, m_M) = \begin{cases} \prod_{i \ge 1} \frac{1}{k_i!} & \text{if } n + \sum_{i=1}^M m_i \text{ is even} \\ 0 & \text{if } n + \sum_{i=1}^M m_i \text{ is odd} . \end{cases}$$
(4.10)

Proof. We prove the expansion in (4.9) by induction using (4.7). For n = 0, 1 the identity holds since for $\gamma \in Q$

$$S_0^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\})e^{\gamma} \otimes 1 = e^{\gamma} \otimes 1 \qquad S_1^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\})e^{\gamma} \otimes 1 = -2\mathcal{H}_1^{\alpha}e^{\gamma} \otimes 1 = e^{\gamma} \otimes S_1(\{\alpha\}).$$
(4.11)

For $k \in \mathcal{K}_M$ set $d_k = \prod_{l=1}^M \frac{1}{k_l!} (-\frac{2}{l})^{k_l}$ and assume (4.9) is true for $N' \leq N \in \mathbb{N}_0$. We find

$$S_{N+1}^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\}) = \frac{2}{N+1} \sum_{n=1}^{N+1} \left(S_{N-2n+1}^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\}) - \mathcal{H}_{n}^{\alpha} S_{N-n+1}^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\}) \right)$$

$$= \sum_{p \ge 0} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{p}} \delta_{(p+N+1) \mod 2,0} \sum_{n=1}^{N+1} \frac{2}{N+1} \left(\Theta(N-2n+1-p) - \frac{nk_{n}}{2} \right) d_{k} \prod_{l=1}^{p} (\mathcal{H}_{l}^{\alpha})^{k_{l}}$$

$$= \sum_{p \ge 0} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{p}} \delta_{(p+N+1) \mod 2,0} \Theta(N+1-p) d_{k} \prod_{l=1}^{p} (\mathcal{H}_{l}^{\alpha})^{k_{l}}, \qquad (4.12)$$

where Θ is the Heaviside function. This proves the Lemma. A detailed calculation is in Appendix E.

Lemma 9 provides an explicit formula for the \mathcal{H} -Schur polynomials. The Lie algebra homomorphism ρ^N maps the \mathcal{H} -Schur polynomials to elements in the universal enveloping of the parabolic Heisenberg algebra. We call these elements the *R*-Schur polynomials. For the *R*-Schur polynomials we prove an important proposition. However, in order to do so, we first prove a lemma and then define the *R*-Schur polynomials properly.

Lemma 11. For each $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the elements $p_{N,0}^{\alpha}$ and $p_{N,1}^{\alpha}$ defined by

$$p_{N,0}^{\alpha}(n) : 2\mathbb{Z} \to \mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle) \qquad p_{N,1}^{\alpha} : 2\mathbb{Z} + 1 \to \mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle) \\ n \mapsto -\frac{2}{n}\rho^{N}(\mathcal{H}_{n}^{\alpha}), \qquad n \mapsto -\frac{2}{n}\rho^{N}(\mathcal{H}_{n}^{\alpha}),$$

are polynomials in n taking values in the parabolic Heisenberg algebra. At n = 0, the polynomial $p_{N,0}^{\alpha}(0)$ satisfies

$$p_{N,0}^{\alpha}(0) = \prod_{l=0}^{\left\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \right\rfloor} \frac{4}{2l+1} R_{2l+1,0}^{\alpha}.$$
(4.13)

Remark 12. Therefore, for every $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the group element $(\omega_{\alpha,N})^2$ in (3.22) is

$$(\omega_{\alpha,N})^2 = \sum_{m \ge 0} \frac{1}{m!} \left(p_{N,0}^{\alpha}(0) \right)^m .$$
(4.14)

Proof. By Remark 3, $\rho^N(\mathcal{H}_m^\alpha)$ is a polynomial on the domain $m \in \mathbb{N}$ taking values in the parabolic algebra. Because $\mathcal{H}_0^\alpha = 0$, the polynomial $\rho^N(\mathcal{H}_{2m}^\alpha)$ has a zero at m = 0. Therefore (4.13) are polynomials as well. To evaluate $p_{N,0}^\alpha$ at zero, the Möbius transformation (3.15) is useful

$$p_{N,0}^{\alpha}(0)\Big|_{R_{2l+1,0}^{\alpha}} = -\frac{1}{m}\rho^{N}(\mathcal{H}_{2m})\Big|_{R_{l}} = -\frac{1}{m}\left(t(u)^{2m} - t(u)^{-2m}\right)\Big|_{m=0}\Big|_{u^{2l+1}} = \frac{4}{2l+1}.$$
 (4.15)

Now, let us define the *R*-Schur polynomials and the generating elements $\mathcal{F}_{f}^{N,R}$. For each $N \in \mathbb{N}_{0}$ and $f \in \mathbb{R}[\{\alpha \in \Delta\}]$, the generating elements $\mathcal{F}_{f}^{\mathcal{H}}$ are mapped by the Lie algebra homomorphism ρ^{N} group like to the quotient universal enveloping of the parabolic algebra defined analogous to (3.14)

$$\mathcal{F}_{f}^{N,R}(\{R\}) = \rho^{N}(\mathcal{F}_{f}^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}\})) \in \mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)^{N}.$$
(4.16)

These elements are important to understand \mathfrak{P} -subrepresentation of the basic representation which justifies the additional notation. The image of ρ^N on the \mathcal{H} -Schur polynomials are called *R-Schur polynomial*

$$S_n^{N,R}(\{R^{\alpha}\}) = \rho^N(S_n^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\}))) \in \mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)^N.$$
(4.17)

By Remark 3, Lemma 9 and Remark 10, the coefficients of $\mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)^N$ in $S_{2n}^{N,R}$ and $S_{2n+1}^{N,R}$ are polynomials in $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ of degree equal to the parabolic level of the product of $R_{l,a}^{\alpha}$. In particular, the maps

$$\bar{S}_{\alpha,0}^{N,R} : 2\mathbb{N}_0 \to \mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)^N \qquad \bar{S}_{\alpha,1}^{N,R} : 2\mathbb{N}_0 + 1 \to \mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)^N \\
n \mapsto S_n^{N,R}(\{R^\alpha\}), \qquad n \mapsto S_n^{N,R}(\{R^\alpha\}) \quad (4.18)$$

are polynomials in n of degree N. These polynomials extend naturally to polynomials with the domain extended from \mathbb{N}_0 to \mathbb{Z} . While for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $a \in \{0, 1\}$, the *R*-Schur polynomials with negative index $S_{-n}^{N,R} = 0$ vanish, the extension $\bar{S}_a^{N,R}(-n)$ can be non zero.

We use this definition of R-Schur polynomials together with Lemma 9 and Lemma 11 to prove the next proposition about the extended R-Schur polynomials.

Proposition 13. For all $n, N \ge 0$ and $\alpha \in \Delta$, $a \in 0, 1$, the extended *R*-Schur polynomials $\bar{S}_{\alpha,a}^{N,-R} \in \mathbb{R}[n]$ satisfy

$$\bar{S}^{N,-R}_{\alpha,a}(-n) = \bar{S}^{N,R}_{\alpha,a}(n-2)\omega_{\alpha}^2.$$
(4.19)

Proof. The statement is independent of $\alpha \in \Delta$, $a \in \{0, 1\}$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Therefore, for the proof, let us drop these indices on the elements of the parabolic Heisenberg algebra, on the *R*-Schur polynomials and on the group element $\omega_{\alpha,N}$.

Here, let us prove the statement in detail for n even, the proof works the same for n odd and is described at the end. For the proof, we evaluate the coefficients of elements of $\mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)$ in $\bar{S}^{-R}(-2n)$. To specify these elements in $\mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)$ let L, L' be two finite sets of odd natural numbers and let

$$R^{L} = \prod_{l \in L} R_{l',0} \qquad \tilde{R}^{L'} = \prod_{l \in L'} R_{l',1} \,. \tag{4.20}$$

In this notation, we evaluate the coefficient of the product $R^L \tilde{R}^{L'}$ in $\bar{S}(-2n)$. The element $\bar{S}(-2n)$ is the polynomial extension from the *R*-Schur polynomials with $n \in \mathbb{N}$ to $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Therefore, by the identity for generalized sums in Appendix **B**, $\bar{S}(-2n)$ has the form of S(2n) but in terms of the generalized sums $\sum \to \overline{\sum}$ and $n \to -n$. Therefore, with Lemma 9 and Lemma 11 and s = |L|, t = |L'| where t is even since n is even, the coefficient of

 $R^L \tilde{R}^{L'}$ in $\bar{S}(-2n)^{-R}$ is

$$\bar{S}^{-R}(-2n)\Big|_{R^{L}\tilde{R}^{L'}} = (-1)^{s} \sum_{m_{1}=1}^{-n} \sum_{m_{2}=1}^{-n-m_{1}} \dots \sum_{m_{s+j}=1}^{-n-m_{1}-\dots-m_{s+j-1}+\lfloor\frac{j}{2}\rfloor} \dots \sum_{m_{s+t}=1}^{-n-m_{1}-\dots-m_{s+t-1}+\frac{t}{2}} \dots \sum_{m_{s+t}=1}^{-n-m_{1}-\dots-m_{s+t-1}+\frac{t}{2}} r(2m_{1},\dots,2m_{s},2m_{s+1}+1,\dots,2m_{s+t}+1) \prod_{i=1}^{s} p(2m_{i}) \prod_{i=s+1}^{s+t} p(2m_{i}-1).$$

$$(4.21)$$

In the summation $\lfloor \frac{j}{2} \rfloor$ accounts for the j-1 number of sums with $s+1 \le i \le s+t-1$.

Next, we replace the generalized sum with upper limit higher than the lower limit by (B.6a). Therefore, first we focus on the sums $1 \le i \le s$. The replacement also inverts $m_i \to -m_i$, but because $p(-2m_i) = p(2m_i)$ it is sufficient to replace the sums by

$$\sum_{m_i=1}^{-n-m_1-\dots-m_{i-1}} \to -\sum_{m_i=1}^{n-m_1-\dots-m_{i-1}-1} -\delta_{m_i,0}.$$
(4.22)

Second, we replace the sums $s + 1 \le i \le t$ pairwise with the pairs i = s + 2j - 1 and i = s + 2j by (B.6a). Doing this for all sums simultaneously implies also $m_i \to -m_i$ in the summands and provides

$$\sum_{\substack{m_{s+2j-1}=1\\m_{s+2j-1}=0}}^{-n-m_{1}-\dots-m_{s+2j-1}+j} p(2m_{s+2j-1}-1)p(2m_{s+2j}-1)$$

$$\rightarrow \sum_{\substack{n-m_{1}-\dots-m_{s+2j-2}-j+1\\m_{s+2j}=0}}^{n-m_{1}-\dots-m_{s+2j-1}+j} p(-2m_{s+2j-1}-1)p(-2m_{s+2j}-1). \quad (4.23)$$

In the first sum in the last expressions, the summand $m_{s+2j-1} = n - m_1 - \cdots - m_{2+2j-1} - j+1$ gives for the second sum the limits $0 \le m_{s+2j} \le -1$ which vanishes by (B.6b) and this term can therefore be removed from the first sum. Shifting all sums with $s+1 \le i \le s+t$ by $m_i \to m_i - 1$ to start at $m_i = 1$ and using p(-m) = p(m) results in the replacement of (4.23) by

$$\sum_{m_{s+2j-1}=1}^{n-m_1-\dots-m_{s+2j}+j-2} \sum_{m_{s+2j}=1}^{n-m_1-\dots-m_{s+2j}+j-1} p(2m_{s+2j-1}-1)p(2m_{s+2j}-1).$$
(4.24)

We insert the replacements in (4.22) and (4.24) in (4.21). The sum in (4.22) and the sum in (4.24) will contribute to $\bar{S}^R(2N-2)$, the Kronecker delta terms in (4.22) sum up to ω^2 . To see this, we collect all terms with the same number of Kronecker delta terms

 δ_{0,m_i} . The terms with $s' \leq s$ number of Kronecker delta terms $\delta_{m_i,0}$ for $i \leq s$ appear with multiplicity choose s' out of s. Therefore, this rearrangement of sums provides us with

$$\bar{S}^{-R}(-2n)\Big|_{R^{L}\tilde{R}^{L'}} = \sum_{s'=1}^{s} \binom{s}{s'} \sum_{m_{s'+1}=1}^{n-1} \dots \sum_{m_{s+j}=1}^{n-1-\dots-m_{s'+j-1}+\lfloor\frac{j}{2}\rfloor} \dots \sum_{m_{s+t}=1}^{n-1-\dots-m_{s'+t-1}+\frac{t}{2}} r(m_{s'+1},\dots,m_{s+t}) \prod_{i=s'+1}^{s} p(2m_{i}) \prod_{i=p+1}^{s+t} p(2m_{i}-1) \frac{1}{s'!} \prod_{i=1}^{s'} p(0) \Big|_{R^{L}\tilde{R}^{L'}}$$

$$(4.25)$$

where a second factor of $(-1)^s$ appears from (4.22). The factorial $\frac{1}{s!}$ comes from the s' number of arguments with same m = 0 in the argument of r. The overall projection to $R^L \tilde{R}^{L'}$ is the sum of all possible projections of the different factors. Because p(2m) is a series in $R_{l,0}$ and p(2m+1) is a series in $R_{l,1}$, the sum over all different projections is the sum over all subset decompositions of $L = L(s') \cup L(s - s')$, where L(s') has s' number of elements fixed

$$\prod_{i=s'+1}^{s} p(2m_i) \prod_{i=s+1}^{s+t} p(2m_i - 1) \frac{1}{s'!} \prod_{i=1}^{s'} p(0) \Big|_{R^L \tilde{R}^{L'}} \\
= \sum_{L(s-s')\cup L(s')} \left(\prod_{i=s'+1}^{s} p(2m_i) \right) \Big|_{R^{L(s-s')}} \left(\prod_{i=s+1}^{s+t} p(2m_i - 1) \right) \Big|_{\tilde{R}^{L'}} \frac{1}{s'!} \left(p(0) \right)^{s'} \Big|_{R^{L(s')}}. \quad (4.26)$$

By Lemma 11 and Remark 12, the last product with factors p(0) projected on $\tilde{R}^{L'}$ is ω^2 projected on $\tilde{R}^{L'}$. For the other factors of p(m) with $m \neq 0$ we use Lemma 11 and pull ρ in front of the entire expression. Then, by (4.9) equation (4.21) becomes

$$\begin{split} \bar{S}^{-R}(-2n)\Big|_{R^{L}\tilde{R}^{L'}} &= \sum_{s'=1}^{p} \binom{s}{s'} \sum_{L(s-s'), L(s')} \rho^{N} \left[\sum_{m_{s'+1}=1}^{n-1} \cdots \sum_{m_{s+j}=1}^{n-1-m_{s+j-1}-\left\lfloor \frac{j}{2} \right\rfloor} \cdots \sum_{m_{s+t}=1}^{n-1-m_{1}-\dots-m_{s+t-1}+\frac{t}{2}} \right] \\ &\quad r(m_{s'+1}, \dots, m_{s+t}) \left(\prod_{i=s'+1}^{p} \frac{2}{2m_{i}} \mathcal{H}_{2m_{i}} \prod_{i=s+1}^{s+t} \frac{2}{2m_{i}-1} \mathcal{H}_{2m_{i}-1} \right) \Big|_{R^{L(s')}\tilde{R}^{L'}} \right] \omega^{2} \Big|_{R^{L(s')}} \\ &= \sum_{s'=1}^{p} \binom{s}{s'} \sum_{L(s-s'), L(s')} \bar{S}(2(n-1)) \Big|_{R^{L}(s-s')\tilde{R}^{L'}} \omega^{2} \Big|_{R^{L}(s')} \\ &= \bar{S}(2(n-1)) \omega^{2} \Big|_{R^{L}\tilde{R}^{L'}} . \end{split}$$

$$(4.27)$$

The proof works analogously for $\overline{S}^{-R}(-2n-1)$. Then t is odd, and one uses the pair wise replacement of all sums in (4.24) for $s+2 \leq i \leq s+t$. The sum s+1 is replaced

individually by (4.24) where the upper limit of the sum reduces by 1 because of (B.6b). Then the same steps as for the even case provides $\bar{S}^{-R}(-2n-1) = \bar{S}^{-R}(2n-1)\omega^2$. \Box

Corollary 14. The extended R-Schur polynomials $\bar{S}^{N,R}_{\alpha}(n)$ vanish at n = -1

$$\bar{S}^{N,R}_{\alpha}(-1) = 0. (4.28)$$

Proof. This follows from (4.21) for odd n and (B.6b). It is consistent with Proposition 13.

With the results of this section we are well equipped to analyze the \mathfrak{k} -structure of the basic representation, which is the subject of the next section.

5 *t*-structure of basic representation

In this section we prove Theorem 1. For instance we give all \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations in the basic representation such that the quotient of the basic representation by the subrepresentation is a finite dimensional \mathfrak{P} -representation. This is the finest \mathfrak{k} -structure of the basic representations and it allows us to provide the cosocle filtration as an infinite composition series of infinite dimensional \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations of the basic representation.

First, we provide an infinite set of finite dimensional \mathfrak{k} -representations $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)^6$ and surjective projections $G_N : \operatorname{R}(\Lambda_0) \to \operatorname{Ver}_R(N) \simeq \operatorname{R}(\Lambda_0)/W_N$, which commute with the action of \mathfrak{k} and project the basic representation on the finite dimensional \mathfrak{k} -representations $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$. This provides an infinite set of \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentation $W_N = \operatorname{Ker}(G_N)$ of the basic representation as the kernel of the projections.⁷

Second, we prove that if the basic representation projects \mathfrak{k} -covariant on a finite dimensional \mathfrak{P} -representation, there exists an $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that the \mathfrak{P} -representations is equivalent to $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ or to a quotient of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ by a subrepresentation of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$. This is equivalent to the statement that every \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentation $W \subset \operatorname{R}(\Lambda_0)$, for which the quotient $\operatorname{R}(\Lambda_0)/W$ is a finite dimensional \mathfrak{P} -representation by ρ , is W_N for some $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ or a subrepresentation of W_N . Therefore, we may call this set of subrepresentations the finest \mathfrak{P} -structure (and probably the finest \mathfrak{k} -structure).

Third, we show that the infinite family of \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations $(W_N)_{N \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ is an infinite composition series with cosocle filtration (see Appendix C). In particular, the finite

⁶We chose the name Ver_R since the modules are truncated *Verma* module of the parabolic Heisenberg algebra with generators R.

⁷Embedding and projection. For two vector spaces V, W and a homomorphism $G' : V \to W$ we say that V is *embedded* in W if G' is injective and if G' is surjective we say that $W \simeq V/(\text{Ker}(G'))$ is a *projection* of V. If the vector spaces are representations of a Lie algebra \mathfrak{l} and G' respects the action of \mathfrak{l} we call the embedding (resp. projection) also a \mathfrak{l} -embedding (resp. \mathfrak{l} -projection). If it is clear from the context we also avoid the symbol \mathfrak{l} and simply write embedding (resp. projection).

dimensional quotients W_N/W_{N+1} are maximal semisimple resp. W_{N+1} is the radical of W_N and the inverse limit of the chain of \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations is trivial.

In Subsection 5.1 we derive the infinite chain of \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations with finite codimension which is the cosocle filtration of $R(\Lambda_0)$ and we derive the \mathfrak{k} -projection of the basic representation onto infinitely many finite dimensional \mathfrak{k} -representations. In Subsection 5.2 we show that the inverse limit of the \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations is trivial and therefore the cosocle filtration is an infinite composition series of $R(\Lambda_0)$ under \mathfrak{k} .

5.1 *t*-subrepresentations in basic representation

In this section we provide *all* infinitely many projections of the basic representation onto finite dimensional \mathfrak{P} -representations (See Footnote 7 or Appendix C). Equivalently, we provide *all* infinitely many \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations of $\mathrm{R}(\Lambda_0)$, for which the quotient of $\mathrm{R}(\Lambda_0)$ by the subrepresentation is a finite dimensional \mathfrak{P} -representation. This set of \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations also contains the cosocle filtration of the basic representation.

First, for all $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ we construct a finite dimensional \mathfrak{P} -representation $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$, which is also a representations of \mathfrak{k} by pulling back with the Lie algebra homomorphism ρ^N . Second, we prove that the basic representation can be projected \mathfrak{k} -covariant onto $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ for each $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and we give the explicit \mathfrak{k} -projection map G_N . Third, we show that this infinite set of \mathfrak{k} -representations and the quotient of these representations by subrepresentations are all finite dimensional \mathfrak{P} -representations on which the basic representation projects with the pull back of ρ . Fourth, in a corollary we give the infinite descending chain of \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations in the basic representation with cosocle filtration.

For each $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, we define a representation $\widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_R(N)$ as the tensor product of the universal enveloping algebra of the parabolic Heisenberg algebra $\mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)$ quotiented by the ideal $\mathcal{I}_N^{\mathcal{U}}$ in (3.13) and the group algebra of the root lattice with the inclusion $\alpha \mapsto e_{\alpha}$

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_{R}(N) = \frac{\mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)}{\mathcal{I}_{N}^{\mathcal{U}}} \otimes \mathbb{R}[Q].$$
(5.1)

This definition is reminiscent to the definition of the basic representation but in parabolic generators. In particular, for a fixed $\mathbf{e}_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{R}[Q]$, the representation $\widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_{R}(N)$ restricts to a finite dimensional quotient of a Verma module of the parabolic Heisenberg algebra.

The exponential series $\omega_{\alpha,N}$ in Proposition 6 acts by multiplication on $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$. This is well-defined, because first, only finitely many terms in the exponential series in (3.22) act non-trivially and second, they are given in terms of the parabolic Heisenberg algebra. Next, we consider the group which is generated by $\omega_{\alpha,N}^2$ for $\alpha \in \Delta$. This induces an equivalence relation on $\widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_R(N)$ which is generated by

$$(\omega_{\alpha,N})^2 \mathbf{e}_{\beta} \sim \mathbf{e}_{\beta+2\alpha} \tag{5.2}$$

and extends straightforward to all other elements of $\widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_R(N)$, because the parabolic Heisenberg algebra commutes with $\omega_{\alpha,N}$. For each $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, this equivalence relation defines a quotient space $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ from $\widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_R(N)$ by

$$\operatorname{Ver}_{R}(N) = \widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_{R}(N) / \sim .$$
 (5.3)

From here on, we always work with the quotient space $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$. The construction of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ as a quotient space is particularly fruitful to extend $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ to a representation of the parabolic algebra \mathfrak{P} . This is subject of the next Proposition.

Proposition 15. For all $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the representation $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ extends to a representation of the parabolic algebra \mathfrak{P}^N . The element $\mathcal{E}_n^{\alpha} \in \mathfrak{k}$ acts on \mathbf{e}_{γ} for $\gamma \in Q$ by

$$\rho^{N}(\mathcal{E}_{n}^{\alpha})\mathbf{e}_{\gamma} = \epsilon(\alpha,\gamma)\bar{S}_{\alpha}^{N,R}\left(-n - (\alpha|\gamma) - 1\right)\mathbf{e}_{\alpha+\gamma}$$
(5.4)

and the action extends to $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ by the commutation relations of \mathfrak{P} .

Remark 16. By this proposition $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ extends from a representation of $\langle R \rangle$ to a representation of the parabolic algebra \mathfrak{P}^N , for which we use the same name $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$. The pull back of ρ^N maps this representation to a representation of \mathfrak{k} , for which we still use the same symbol $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ and therefore, we simply write \mathcal{E}_n^{α} for $\rho^N(\mathcal{E}_n^{\alpha})$, when \mathcal{E}_n^{α} acts on a parabolic representation.

Remark 17. The state $\mathbf{e}_0 \in \operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ is a singlet of the maximal compact subalgebra $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ of the Lie algebra $\mathring{\mathfrak{g}}$ because $\bar{S}_{\alpha}(-1) = 0$ by Corollary 14.

Proof. The proof contains three parts. The first part shows, that the action (5.4) is well defined on the coset space. The second part shows that (5.4) defines a representation of the parabolic algebra. For example, that $\rho^N(\mathcal{E}_n^\alpha)$ can be written in terms of the parabolic generators and ρ^N . The third part shows that (5.4) obeys the Lie bracket relation. Then, $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ extends to a representation of the parabolic algebra.

We show that (5.4) is well defined on the quotient space. By Proposition 6 and $\beta \in \Delta$

$$\rho^{N}(\mathcal{E}_{n}^{\alpha})(\omega_{\beta})^{2}\mathbf{e}_{\gamma} = (\omega_{\beta})^{2}\rho^{N}(\mathcal{E}_{n+2(\alpha|\gamma)}^{\alpha})\mathbf{e}_{\gamma} = \epsilon(\alpha,\gamma)\bar{S}_{\alpha}^{N,R}(-n-(\alpha|2\beta+\gamma)-1)\mathbf{e}_{\alpha+2\beta+\gamma}$$
$$= S_{\alpha}^{N,R}(-n-(\alpha|2\beta+\gamma))\mathbf{e}_{\alpha+2\beta+\gamma} = \rho^{N}(\mathcal{E}_{n}^{\alpha})\mathbf{e}_{\gamma+2\beta}.$$
(5.5)

Therefore, the action respects the equivalence relation.

Second, we show that (5.4) defines an action of the parabolic algebra \mathfrak{P}^N consistently. For all $\alpha \in \Delta$ and $0 \leq n \leq 2N + 1$ the equation (5.4) defines the action of \mathfrak{P}^N uniquely. Then, the action of all generators \mathcal{E}_m^{α} for $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ is given in terms of ρ^N and the action of \mathfrak{P}^N . Therefore the action of \mathcal{E}_m^{α} is uniquely given by the action of the elements \mathcal{E}_n^{α} with $0 \leq n \leq 2N+1$ and the ideal relations in Proposition 5. Thus, it remains to show that the ideal relations hold

$$\sum_{k=0}^{N+1} (-1)^k \binom{N+1}{k} \rho^N (\mathcal{E}_{m+2k}^{\alpha}) \mathbf{e}_{\gamma}$$
$$= \epsilon(\alpha, \gamma) \sum_{k=0}^{N+1} (-1)^k \binom{N+1}{k} \bar{S}_{\alpha}^{N,R} (-m-2k-(\alpha|\gamma)-1) \mathbf{e}_{\alpha+\gamma} = 0.$$
(5.6)

The last equation holds because $S_{\alpha}^{N,R}$ is a polynomial of degree N up to elements in $\mathcal{I}_{N}^{\mathcal{U}}$ which act trivial by definition of $\operatorname{Ver}_{R}(N)$. This shows that (5.4) defines an action of the parabolic algebra on the states \mathbf{e}_{β} for $\beta \in Q$.

Finally, we show that this action of \mathfrak{P} is indeed a representation and respects the Lie bracket. For all $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}$, $\alpha, \beta \in \Delta, \gamma \in Q$ and $\mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)$ the action of the generator \mathcal{E}_m^{α} on $U_R \mathbf{e}_{\beta}$ is uniquely defined by the action of \mathcal{E}_m^{α} on \mathbf{e}_{γ} and the commutation relations of \mathcal{E}_m^{α} with the compact Heisenberg algebra. Therefore, the action of the compact Heisenberg algebra and \mathcal{E}_m^{α} respect the commutation relations. It remains to show that \mathcal{E}_m^{α} and \mathcal{E}_n^{β} respect the commutation relations on \mathbf{e}_{γ} . Inserting Proposition 13 in (5.4) we find

$$\rho^{N}(\mathcal{E}_{m}^{\alpha})\mathbf{e}_{\gamma} = \epsilon(\alpha,\gamma)S_{-n-(\alpha|\beta)-1}^{N,R}(\{R^{\alpha}\})\mathbf{e}_{\gamma+\alpha} + \epsilon(\alpha,\gamma)S_{n+(\alpha|\beta)-1}^{N,R}(\{-R^{\alpha}\})\mathbf{e}_{\gamma-\alpha}$$
$$= \epsilon(\alpha,\gamma)S_{-n-(\alpha|\beta)-1}^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\})\mathbf{e}_{\gamma+\alpha} + \epsilon(\alpha,\gamma)S_{n+(\alpha|\beta)-1}^{\mathcal{H}}(\{-\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\})\mathbf{e}_{\gamma-\alpha}.$$
(5.7)

But this action is exactly the action on the maximal states of the basic representation and because \mathcal{E}_m^{α} and the compact Heisenberg algebra satisfy the commutation relations, this action necessarily satisfies the commutation relations between \mathcal{E}_m^{α} and \mathcal{E}_n^{β} . This is illustrated in detail in Appendix E.

Now, we are equipped with infinitely many \mathfrak{k} -representations $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ and the quotients of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ by subrepresentations of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$. In the theorem below we show that the basic representation can be projected onto these finite dimensional \mathfrak{k} -representations.

Theorem 18. For all $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, there exists a \mathfrak{k} -homomorphism $G_N : \mathbb{R}(\Lambda_0) \to \operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ given by

$$G_N(e^{\gamma} \otimes f(\{\alpha \in \Delta\})) = \mathcal{F}_f^{N,R}(\{R\})\mathbf{e}_{\gamma}$$
(5.8)

which is surjective and commutes with \mathfrak{k} .

Remark 19. By this theorem, for all $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the map G_N projects the basic representation onto $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ and on quotients of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ by subrepresentations of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$. This is equivalent, to the fact that the kernel of G_N is an \mathfrak{k} -invariant subspace

$$W_N = \operatorname{Ker}(G_N) \subset \operatorname{R}(\Lambda_0).$$
(5.9)

Remark 20. The map G_N together with the action \mathcal{E}_m^{α} on the basic representation, allows to conveniently evaluate the action of \mathcal{E}_m^{α} on the states of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ by evaluating \mathcal{E}_m^{α} on the basic representation and then applying G_N . Proposition 28 gives an efficient formula to evaluate G_N on arbitrary states of the basic representation.

Proof. First, we show commutation of G_N with the compact Heisenberg algebra. For all $n \in \mathbb{N}, \alpha \in \Delta, \gamma \in Q, f \in \mathbb{R}[\{\beta \in \Delta\}]$ holds by (4.5)

$$G_N\left(\mathcal{H}_n^{\alpha} e^{\gamma} \otimes f\right) = \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{H}_n^{\alpha} f}^R(\{R\}) \mathbf{e}_{\gamma} = \mathcal{H}_n^{\alpha} \mathcal{F}_f^R(\{R\}) \mathbf{e}_{\gamma} = \mathcal{H}_n^{\alpha} G_N\left(e^{\beta} \otimes f\right) \,. \tag{5.10}$$

Therefore, the homomorphism G_N commutes with the compact Heisenberg algebra.

Next, we show commutation of G_N with \mathcal{E}_n^{α} for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ on the maximal states. Therefore, let us evaluate $G_N \circ \mathcal{E}_n^{\alpha}$ on a maximal state by using (4.1)

$$G_N(\mathcal{E}_n^{\alpha} e^{\gamma} \otimes 1) = G_N\left(\epsilon(\alpha, \gamma) e^{\gamma + \alpha} \otimes S_{-n - (\alpha, \gamma) - 1}(\{\alpha\}) + \epsilon(\alpha, \gamma) e^{\gamma - \alpha} \otimes S_{n + (\gamma, \alpha) - 1}(\{-\alpha\})\right)$$
(5.11)

By Proposition 8 the Schur polynomials $S_n(\{\alpha\})$ are generated by the \mathcal{H} -Schur polynomials, which allows to replace $S_n(\{\alpha\})$ by $S_n^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\})$. Because the compact Heisenberg algebra commutes with G_N , the \mathcal{H} -Schur polynomials commute with G_N . Then, from (5.11) follows

$$G_{N}(\mathcal{E}_{m}^{\alpha}e^{\gamma}\otimes 1) = \epsilon(\alpha,\gamma)S_{-m-(\alpha,\gamma)-1}^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\alpha\})\mathbf{e}_{\gamma+\alpha} + \epsilon(\alpha,\gamma)S_{m+(\gamma,\alpha)-1}^{\mathcal{H}}(-\{\alpha\})\mathbf{e}_{\gamma-\alpha}$$
$$= \epsilon(\alpha,\gamma)\bar{S}_{\alpha}^{N,R}(-m-(\alpha,\gamma)-1)\mathbf{e}_{\gamma+\alpha} = \mathcal{E}_{m}^{\alpha}\mathbf{e}_{\gamma}$$
(5.12)

by Proposition 15. This proves commutation of \mathcal{E}_n^{α} with G_N on all maximal states.

It remains to show commutation of \mathcal{E}_m^{α} and G_N on all states. Therefore, we write a state $e^{\gamma} \otimes f$ for a polynomial $f \in \mathbb{R}[\{\beta \in \Delta\}]$ as generated from the maximal state by $\mathcal{F}_f^{\mathcal{H}}$. For $U = \mathcal{F}_f^{\mathcal{H}}$ we apply the commutation identity (3.7), which provides the appropriate sets of U_j and n_j to commute \mathcal{E}_n^{α} with $\mathcal{F}_f^{\mathcal{H}}$. It allows us to derive

$$\mathcal{E}_{n}^{\alpha}G_{N}\left(e^{\gamma}\otimes f\right) = \mathcal{E}_{n}^{\alpha}G_{N}\left(\mathcal{F}_{f}^{\mathcal{H}}e^{\gamma}\otimes 1\right) = \mathcal{E}_{n}^{\alpha}\mathcal{F}_{f}^{\mathcal{H}}G_{N}\left(e^{\gamma}\otimes 1\right)$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{J}U_{j}\mathcal{E}_{n_{j}}^{r}G_{N}\left(e^{\gamma}\otimes 1\right) = \sum_{j=1}^{J}U_{j}G_{N}\left(\mathcal{E}_{n_{j}}^{\alpha}e^{\beta}\otimes 1\right)$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{J}G_{N}\left(U_{j}\mathcal{E}_{n_{j}}^{r}e^{\gamma}\otimes 1\right) = G_{N}\left(\mathcal{E}_{n_{j}}^{\alpha}\mathcal{F}_{f}^{\mathcal{H}}e^{\gamma}\otimes 1\right) = G_{N}\left(\mathcal{E}_{n}^{\alpha}e^{\gamma}\otimes f\right),$$
(5.13)

which proves commutation of \mathfrak{k} and G_N . The homomorphism G_N is surjective since ρ^N is surjective.

This theorem shows that for every $N \in \mathbb{N}$ the surjective homomorphism G_N projects the basic representation onto $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ and quotient of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ by subrepresentation of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$. The theorem also implies the existence of infinitely many filtered invariant subspaces as the kernel of G_N , which we give in a corollary after the next theorem. In the next theorem we show that if and only if the basic representation projects onto a finite dimensional \mathfrak{k} -representation, which is also a representation of \mathfrak{P} , then the representation is equivalent to $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ or to the quotient of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ by a subrepresentation.

Theorem 21. If for an $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ the basic representation projects by ρ^N onto a finite dimensional representation Ψ of \mathfrak{P}^N , then Ψ is equivalent to $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ or to the quotient of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ by a subrepresentation of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$.

Remark 22. The theorem also implies that a \mathfrak{k} -invariant subspace in the basic representation for which the quotient of the basic representation by the subspace is a finite dimensional \mathfrak{P} -representation, the subspace is equivalent to W_N or to a subrepresentation of W_N for some $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

Remark 23. All known finite dimensional \mathfrak{k} -representations are also representations of the double parabolic algebra \mathfrak{P} . Yet, it is not proven, but we expect that indeed all finite dimensional \mathfrak{k} -representations are also \mathfrak{P} -representations. Then, for all finite dimensional \mathfrak{k} -representations which embed in the basic representation, there exists an $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that the representation is equivalent to W_N or to a subrepresentation of W_N . Then, this is the finest \mathfrak{k} -structure of the basic representation.

Proof. If Ψ is the trivial representation, it is equivalent to the quotient of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(0)$ by $\operatorname{Ver}_R(0)$. Let us assume Ψ is non-trivial. Because Ψ is a projection of the basic representation, there exists a surjective homomorphism $G' : \operatorname{R}(\Lambda_0) \to \Psi$ which commutes with \mathfrak{k} . By Proposition 8 and because Ψ is non-trivial by assumption and G' is surjective, G' does not vanish on the maximal states. By commutation of G' and the Heisenberg algebra necessarily Ψ and G' satisfy

$$G'(e^{\gamma} \otimes f) = \mathcal{F}_{f}^{N,R} G'(e^{\gamma} \otimes f) \,. \tag{5.14}$$

Therefore, Ψ as a representation of the parabolic Heisenberg algebra is equivalent to $\widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_R(N)$ or to the quotient of $\widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_R(N)$ with a subrepresentation.

To show that Ψ is a quotient space of $\widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_R(N)$ w.r.t. the equivalence relation in (5.2) and that $G' = G_N$, we perform several derivations explained below

$$G'(e^{\gamma+\alpha} \otimes 1) = \epsilon(\alpha,\gamma)\mathcal{E}^{\alpha}_{-(\alpha|\gamma)-1}G'(e^{\gamma} \otimes 1)$$

$$= -\epsilon(\alpha,\gamma)\sum_{m=1}^{N+1}(-1)^{m}\binom{N+1}{m}G'\left(\mathcal{E}^{\alpha}_{-(\alpha|\gamma)-1+2m}e^{\gamma} \otimes 1\right)$$

$$= -\sum_{m=1}^{N+1}(-1)^{m}\binom{N+1}{m}S_{2m-2}(\{-R^{\alpha}\})G'(e^{\gamma-\alpha} \otimes 1)$$

$$= \bar{S}^{N,-R}_{\alpha}(-2)G'(e^{\gamma-\alpha} \otimes 1) = \omega^{2}_{\alpha}G'(e^{\gamma-\alpha} \otimes 1).$$
(5.15)

In the first line, we used that G' commutes with $\mathcal{E}^{\alpha}_{-(\alpha|\gamma)-1}$. In the second line, we used that Ψ has parabolic level N, then we applied the ideal relation in Proposition 5 and used again commutation of G' and \mathcal{E}^{α}_m . For the third line, we evaluate \mathcal{E}^{α}_m on the maximal state with weight γ , then we used commutation of the G' with the compact Heisenberg algebra and applied the Lie algebra homomorphism which provides the R-Schur polynomials. In the fourth line, we applied (3.19) and the fact that $\bar{S}^{N,R}_{\alpha}(n)$ are polynomials for the first equation. The last equation derives from Proposition 13 for n = 2. Therefore Ψ is a quotient space w.r.t. the equivalence relation in (5.2). Commutation of G' and \mathcal{E}^{α}_m implies by Proposition 13, that \mathcal{E}^{α}_m acts on Ψ by (5.4). Thus, Ψ is equivalent to $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ or to the quotient of $\widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_R(N)$ with a subrepresentation.

By these two theorems, we can derive the cosocle filtration of the basic representation, but therefore, it is beneficial to add some notation. For $k \leq N$ let $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)_k$ be the projection of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ onto the $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ -representation at parabolic level k

$$\operatorname{Ver}_{R}(N) = \bigoplus_{k=0}^{N} \operatorname{Ver}_{R}(N)_{k}.$$
(5.16)

Then, due to the parabolic grading, for $M \in \mathbb{N}_0$ also

$$\bigoplus_{k=M}^{N} \operatorname{Ver}_{R}(N)_{k}$$
(5.17)

are \mathfrak{k} -representations. Using this notation, we provide the cosocle filtration of the basic representation in the next corollary.

Corollary 24. For all $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, with $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ and $G_N : \operatorname{R}(\Lambda_0) \to \operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ as in Proposition 15 and Theorem 18, the following identities hold.

a.) The kernel of $W_N = \text{Ker}(G_N) \subset R(\Lambda_0)$ is a non-trivial proper \mathfrak{k} -invariant subspace and we set $W_{-1} = R(\Lambda_0)$. b.) The \mathfrak{k} -invariant subspaces of W_N , for which the quotient of W_N by the subrepresentation is a finite dimensional \mathfrak{P} -representation are W_M and subrepresentations of W_M for M > N. Equivalently, if W_N projects onto a finite dimensional \mathfrak{P} representations, which is also a \mathfrak{k} -representation by ρ , then there exists a $M \in \mathbb{N}$, $M \geq N+1$ such that the \mathfrak{P} -representation is equivalent to

$$\bigoplus_{k=N+1}^{M} \operatorname{Ver}_{R}(M)_{k}$$
(5.18)

or to a quotient of this representation by a subrepresentation.

c.) For $M \in \mathbb{Z}_{>-1}$, the quotients of the invariant subspaces

$$\frac{W_M}{W_{M+1}} \simeq \operatorname{Ver}_R(M+1)_{M+1}$$
 (5.19)

are finite-dimensional semisimple \mathfrak{k} -representations, on which the generators with positive parabolic level act trivial.

d.) For $M \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq -1}$, the cosocle and the radical (see Appendix C) of W_M are

$$rad(W_M) = W_{M+1}, \qquad cosoc(W_M) \simeq Ver_R(M+1)_{(M+1)}.$$
 (5.20)

e.) The \mathfrak{k} -cosocle filtration (see Appendix C) of $\mathbb{R}(\Lambda_0)$ is $(W_N)_{N \in \mathbb{N}}$

$$\mathbf{R}(\Lambda_0) \supset W_0 \supset W_1 \supset W_2 \supset \dots \tag{5.21}$$

This corollary provides the cosocle filtration of the basic representation under \mathfrak{k} . In the next subsection, we show that the cosocle filtration is indeed an *infinite composition* series (see Appendix C) of the basic representation.

5.2 Infinite composition series of basic representation

We prove the quite remarkable fact that the basic representation has an infinite composition series with cosocle filtration under \mathfrak{k} . That means, we prove that the basic representation has a descending chain of infinitely many invariant subspaces such that the quotient of two adjacent subspaces in the chain is finite dimensional semisimple. As vector spaces, the sum of all these finite dimensional quotients is equivalent to the basic representation.

First, we derive the infinite completion $\operatorname{Ver}_R(\infty)$ of the family $(\operatorname{Ver}_R(N))_N$ and of the cosocle filtration of the basic representation (5.21). Conversely to $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$, which is a projection of the basic representation, the infinite completion is not a projection of the

basic representation but the basic representation embeds in the infinite completion. This will be used to show that the cosocle filtration (5.21) is indeed also an infinite composition series (define in Appendix C). Clearly, these statements must be properly defined, so first let us define the infinite completion $\operatorname{Ver}_R(\infty)$ and then show that the basic representation embeds in it.

For each $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the quotient universal enveloping algebra of the parabolic Heisenberg algebra $\mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)^N$ is defined analogous to $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{P})^N$. The inverse limit of the family $(\mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)^N)_{N \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $(\widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_R(N))_N$ with the morphism given by the natural projection are called

$$\mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)^{\infty} = \lim_{\substack{N \to \infty \\ N \to \infty}} \mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)^{N},$$

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_{R}(\infty) = \lim_{\substack{K \to \infty \\ N \to \infty}} \widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_{R}(N) \in \mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)^{\infty} \otimes \mathbb{R}[Q].$$
(5.22)

The map $\omega_{\alpha,\infty}$ on the space $\widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_R(\infty)$ is defined uniquely from $\omega_{\alpha,N}$ and the universal property of the inverse limit

$$\omega_{\alpha,\infty} = \exp\left(\sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{2}{2k+1} R^{\alpha}_{2k+1,0}\right) \in \mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)^{\infty} .$$
(5.23)

The equivalence relation (5.2) extends to an equivalence relation of the completions. For every $\alpha \in \Delta$, and $\mathbf{e}_{\gamma}^{\infty} \in \widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_{R}(\infty)$

$$(\omega_{\alpha,\infty})^2 \mathbf{e}^{\infty}_{\gamma} \simeq \mathbf{e}^{\infty}_{\gamma+2\alpha} \in \widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_R(\infty) \,, \tag{5.24}$$

which defines the quotient space

$$\operatorname{Ver}_{R}(\infty) = \left(\widetilde{\operatorname{Ver}}_{R}(\infty) / \sim \right) \equiv \lim_{\substack{\longrightarrow \\ N \to \infty}} \operatorname{Ver}_{R}(N) .$$
 (5.25)

The action of \mathfrak{k} and the generating elements is uniquely given by the universal property of the inverse limit and (5.4)

$$\mathcal{F}_f^{\infty,R} = \rho(\mathcal{F}_f^{\mathcal{H}}) \in \mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)^{\infty}.$$
(5.26)

These elements allow to give the map G_{∞} explicitly, which embeds the basic representation in $\operatorname{Ver}_{R}(\infty)$. By the universal property of the inverse limit, the map

$$G_{\infty}: \quad \mathbf{R}(\Lambda_0) \quad \longrightarrow \quad \operatorname{Ver}_R(\infty)$$
 (5.27)

$$e^{\gamma} \otimes f(\{\alpha \in \Delta\}) \quad \mapsto \quad \mathcal{F}_{f}^{\infty,R}(\{R\})\mathbf{e}_{\gamma},$$
 (5.28)

is uniquely defined, such that for every $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ the projection of the codomain $\mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)^{\infty}$ of G_{∞} to $\mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)^N$ is the map G_N .

Proposition 25. The map G_{∞} : $\mathbb{R}(\Lambda_0) \to \operatorname{Ver}_R(\infty)$ is injective but not surjective.

Remark 26. By this proposition the map G_N and G_∞ between the modules $R(\Lambda_0)$ as a \mathfrak{k} -module and $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$, $\operatorname{Ver}_R(\infty)$ as a \mathfrak{P} -module behave similar to the Lie algebra homomorphism ρ^N and ρ from \mathfrak{k} to \mathfrak{P}^N resp. \mathfrak{P} . By Proposition 9 and 11 in [8], the map ρ^N is surjective but not injective, while its completion ρ is injective but not surjective. In particular the elements in \mathfrak{P} which contain only finitely many terms in the formal power series are not in the image of ρ . The basic representation does not project onto the infinite completion $\operatorname{Ver}_R(\infty)$, but rather embeds in it.

Proof. First, we show that G_{∞} is injective. Because the map ρ is injective, the generating element, as a function $\mathcal{F}_{f}^{\infty,R}$: $f \in \mathbb{R}[\{\alpha \in \Delta\}] \mapsto \mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)$ is injective. Therefore, for $\gamma \in Q$, the map G_{∞} is injective on the states $\{e^{\gamma} \otimes f \mid f \in \mathbb{R}[\{\alpha \in \Delta\}]\}$.

The elements \mathbf{e}_{γ} and $\mathbf{e}_{\gamma'}$ are independent if $\gamma - \gamma' \notin 2\mathbb{Z}\Delta$ and therefore it remains to show that the images of G_{∞} on the states

$$\{e^{\gamma+2l\alpha} \otimes f \mid f \in \mathbb{R}[\{\beta \in \Delta\}, \, \alpha \in \Delta, \, l \in \mathbb{N}]\}$$
(5.29)

are linearly independent. The image of G_{∞} on $e^{\gamma+2l\alpha} \otimes f$ and on $e^{\gamma+2k\alpha} \otimes f$ differ by a factor of $(\omega_{\alpha,\infty})^{l-k}$. Therefore, it remains to show that the images of G_{∞} on the states

$$\{e^{\gamma} \otimes f \mid f \in \mathbb{R}[\{\beta \in \Delta\}]\}$$
(5.30)

are linearly independent to the images of G_{∞} on the states

$$\{e^{\gamma+2l\alpha} \otimes f \mid f \in \mathbb{R}[\{\beta \in \Delta\}, \, \alpha \in \Delta]\}$$
(5.31)

for $l \in \mathbb{N}$. The remaining independents relations of the image of the states in (5.29) follow by division with $\omega_{\alpha,\infty}$. To show that the image on the states in (5.30) and (5.31) are independent we show that the generating elements $\mathcal{F}_{f}^{\infty,R}$ are linearly independent from the elements $\mathcal{F}_{f'}^{\infty,R}(\omega_{\alpha,\infty})^{2l}$ for $l \neq 0$. By the series expansion (3.22), it is sufficient to show that there is no elements in $\langle \mathcal{H} \rangle$ which is mapped to $\sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{4l}{2k+1} R_{2k+1,0}^{\alpha}$ by ρ . It is clear, that this is true for all elements $\mathcal{H}_{m}^{\beta} \in \mathfrak{k}$ with $\beta \neq \pm \alpha$ or m odd. Suppose now

$$0 = \rho(\sum_{i=1}^{I} v_i \mathcal{H}_{2n_i}^{\alpha}) + v_0 \sum_{k \ge 0} \frac{4l}{2k+1} R_{2k+1,0}^{\alpha}$$

= $\sum_{i=1}^{I} v_i \sum_{k \ge 0} \sum_{s=1}^{2n_i - 1} c_s^{(2n_i)} (2k+1)^s R_{2k+1,0}^{\alpha} + v_0 \sum_{k \ge 0} \frac{4l}{2k+1} R_{2k+1,0}^{\alpha}.$ (5.32)

where $c_s^{(n)} \in \mathbb{R}$ are the polynomial coefficients. While $\frac{1}{2k+1}$ has no finite series expansion, the first term in the equation are polynomials in 2k + 1 of finite degree. But since this equation must hold for all $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the second and first term must cancel independently.

We show that G_{∞} is not surjective. By Proposition 9 in [8], the element $R_{1,0}^{\alpha}$ is not in the image of ρ . Therefore, there exists no polynomial $f \in \mathbb{R}[\{\beta \in \Delta\}]$ and $\gamma \in Q$ such that $G_{\infty}(e^{\gamma} \otimes f) = R_{1,0}^{\alpha} \mathbf{e}_{0}$.

Corollary 27. The cosocle filtration $(W_N)_{N \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq -1}}$ in Corollary 24 is an infinite composition series of the basic representation under the action of \mathfrak{k}

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} W_N = \{0\}.$$
(5.33)

Proof. By the definition of an infinite composition series in Appendix C it remains to show (5.33). For $\operatorname{Ver}_R(-1) = \{0\}$, the family $(\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)_{N \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq -1}}$ together with the natural projection $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N+1) \to \operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ provides the family $(W_N = \operatorname{Ker}(G_N))_{N \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq -1}}$ with $\operatorname{R}(\Lambda_0)/W_N \simeq \operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ and implies the natural projective embedding $W_{N+1} \to W_N \supset$ W_{N+1} . Then, by the universal property of the inverse limit applied to G_N which provides G_{∞} , the inverse limit of the family $(W_N = \operatorname{Ker}(G_N))_N$ is $W_{\infty} = \operatorname{Ker}(G_{\infty}) = \{0\}$ by Proposition 25.

In this section we derived infinitely many \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations of the basic representation as the kernels of infinitely many different \mathfrak{k} -projections of the basic representations on finite dimensional \mathfrak{k} -representations. We proved, that these are all finite dimensional \mathfrak{P} -representations onto which the basic representation can project by the pull back of ρ . This allowed us to provide the cosocle filtration and to show that it is an infinite composition series of the basic representation. In particular, as vector spaces or \mathfrak{k} -representations, the basic representation is isomorphic to a direct sum of infinitely many finite-dimensional semisimple \mathfrak{k} -representations.

In the next section we provide examples and applications of the results.

6 Examples and applications to supergravity

In this section we provide some explicit examples of the projection of the basic representation onto finite dimensional \mathfrak{k} -representations and we give applications of our results to supergravity in two dimensions.

First, in Subsection 6.1 we prove a Proposition which allows to evaluate the generating elements $\mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{H}}$ to any state of the basic representation in a closed form and which simplifies the evaluation of \mathcal{F}^{R} significantly. Then, we add some comments on the finite dimensional compact subalgebra $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ to further analyze the \mathfrak{k} -representations as $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ -representations.

Second, in Subsection 6.2 the results of the previous section are applied to obtain explicit examples of invariant subspaces and about the projection of the basic representation onto \mathfrak{P} -representations of parabolic level zero and parabolic level one. We use the proven proposition to give the projection homomorphism explicitly. Third, in Subsection 6.3 we apply the results in the previous section to the basic representation of the split real $\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)}$ algebra with maximal compact subalgebra $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$. We find the $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$ -representations of parabolic level zero, one and two which are projections of the basic representation and compare these representations with tensor products of representations of the single parabolic algebra constructed in [8]. This provides an $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariant formulation of the $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$ -representations on which the basic representation projects. At the end, we discuss applications to supergravity in D = 2 dimensions.

6.1 Evaluation of projection

To understand the \mathfrak{k} -subrepresentations of the basic representations explicitly, the homomorphism G_N must be evaluated on the states $e^{\gamma} \otimes f$ of the basic representation (5.8). By Theorem 18 it remains to evaluate the generating elements $\mathcal{F}_f^R = \rho(\mathcal{F}_f^{\mathcal{H}})$ for polynomials $f \in \mathbb{R}[\{\alpha \in \Delta\}]$. The next Proposition provides an explicit expressions of the generating elements $\mathcal{F}_f^{\mathcal{H}}$.

Proposition 28. Let $\{v^i \in \mathring{\mathfrak{h}}^{\vee} \mid 1 \leq i \leq r\}$ be an orthonormal basis of $\mathring{\mathfrak{h}}^{\vee}$ and let $\{H^{v,i} \in \mathring{\mathfrak{h}} \mid 1 \leq i \leq r\}$ be the dual basis with $\mathcal{H}_n^{v,i} = \frac{1}{2}H^{v,i}(t^n - t^{-n})$, then

a.)
$$\mathcal{F}_{f_{1}(\{v^{i}\})f_{2}(\{v^{j}\})}^{\mathcal{H}} = \mathcal{F}_{f_{1}(\{v^{i}\}\}}^{\mathcal{H}}\mathcal{F}_{f(\{v^{j}\})}^{\mathcal{H}} \quad for \ i \neq j,$$

b.)
$$\mathcal{F}_{(v_{-l}^{i})^{n}}^{\mathcal{H}} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} c_{l,n,k} \left(\mathcal{H}_{l}^{v,i}\right)^{k} e^{\gamma} \otimes 1$$

$$c_{l,n,k} = \begin{cases} (-1)^{n} \frac{(2l(n-k-1))!_{(4l)}(2n)!_{(2)}}{k!(2n-2k)!_{(2)}} & for \ n-k \ even \\ 0 & otherwise \end{cases}.$$
(6.1)

where for $n, N \in \mathbb{N}$, $N!_{(n)} = N(N-n)!_{(n)}$ for $N \ge n$, $N!_{(n)} = N$ for $1 \le n \le N$, $0!_{(n)} = (-N)!_{(n)} = 1$.

Remark 29. By (6.1) it is straightforward to evaluate the generating elements $\mathcal{F}_{f}^{\mathcal{H}}$ for any $f \in \mathbb{R}[\{\alpha \in \Delta\}]$. The Lie algebra homomorphism ρ^{N} maps group like the generating elements $\mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{H}}$ to the parabolic generating elements $\mathcal{F}^{R} \in \mathcal{U}(\langle R \rangle)$. Because of the parabolic grading, and because every element of the parabolic Heisenberg algebra has at least parabolic level one, the Lie algebra homomorphism ρ^{N} is easy evaluated for low N.

Proof. The loop generators of the dual roots $H_n^{v,i}$ commute and therefore $H_n^{v,i}$ does not act on $e^{\gamma} \otimes (v_{-l}^j)^n$ for $i \neq j$ and $l, n \in \mathbb{N}$, which proves a.

We prove b by induction in n. For n = 0 the statement is true and for n = 1, $c_{l,1,k} = -2\delta_{k,1}$ and

$$\mathcal{F}_{v_{-l}^i} = -2\mathcal{H}_l^{v,i}, \qquad (6.2)$$

the statement is also true. Assuming b is true for $n \leq N$ and applying the commutation $[H^{v,i}_{-l}, (\mathcal{H}^{v,i}_{-l})^k] = -kl(\mathcal{H}^{v,i}_{-l})^{k-1}$ results in

$$\mathcal{F}_{(v_{-l}^{i})^{N+1}} = H_{-l}^{v,i} \sum_{k=0}^{n} c_{l,N,k} (\mathcal{H}_{-l}^{v,i})^{k}$$

= $-lc_{l,n,1} + \sum_{k=1}^{N} - ((k+1)lc_{l,N,k+1} + 2c_{l,N,k-1}) (\mathcal{H}_{-l}^{v,i})^{k} - 2c_{l,N,N} (\mathcal{H}_{-l}^{v,i})^{N+1}.$
(6.3)

From the explicit form of c follow the identities

$$c_{l,N+1,0} = -lc_{l,N,1}, \qquad c_{l,N+1,N+1} = -2c_{l,N,1}$$

$$c_{l,N+1,k} = -l(k+1)c_{l,N,k+1} - 2c_{l,n,k-1}, \qquad (6.4)$$

which, inserted in (6.3) prove b.

The Proposition allows to evaluate the homomorphism G_N , which projects $\mathrm{R}(\Lambda_0)$ onto $\mathrm{Ver}_R(N)$. To analyze the \mathfrak{k} -representations $\mathrm{Ver}_R(N)$, they may be decomposed into \mathfrak{k} -representations. Therefore, let us first consider the quotient algebra \mathfrak{P}^0 which is also a finite dimensional subalgebra of the double parabolic algebra

$$\mathfrak{P}^{0} = \left\{ P^{\alpha}_{0,a} \mid \alpha \in \Delta, \ a \in \{0,1\} \right\} .$$
(6.5)

By definition these are the only elements of the double parabolic algebra which preserve the parabolic level of states in the parabolic representation. The Lie bracket of these elements is

$$\left[P_{0,a}^{\alpha}, P_{0,b}^{\beta}\right] = \epsilon(\alpha, \beta) \left(P_{0,a+b}^{\alpha+\beta} + P_{0,a+b}^{\alpha-\beta}\right).$$
(6.6)

Therefore, \mathfrak{P}^0 is a \mathbb{Z}_2 graded algebra $\mathfrak{P}^0 = \mathring{\mathfrak{k}}_0 \oplus \mathring{\mathfrak{k}}_1$, where $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}_0 \simeq \mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ as Lie algebras and $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}_1 \simeq \mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ as vector spaces. In particular $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}_0$ is a subalgebra as well and equivalent to the semisimple Lie algebra $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$. This analysis helps to analysis the decomposition of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ in $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ -representations in Subsection 6.3. However, first, let us provide general examples of the projections G_N in the next subsection.

6.2 General examples

In this section we provide the projection of the basic representation on the parabolic level zero and parabolic level one representations $\operatorname{Ver}_R(0)$ and $\operatorname{Ver}_R(1)$ and give the projections G_0 and G_1 explicitly. We analyze the representations $\operatorname{Ver}_R(0)$ and $\operatorname{Ver}_R(1)$ in more detail and add some comments on the decomposition into $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ -representations. It is straightforward to generalize this to any parabolic level $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and representation $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$.

6.2.1 Parabolic level zero

The simplest \mathfrak{k} -representation onto which the basic representation can be projected is of parabolic level zero. By Theorem 18 this representation is $\operatorname{Ver}_R(0)$ given in Proposition 15. Let us analyze this representation in more detail.

Because the representation has parabolic level zero, all parabolic generators of higher parabolic level than zero act trivial. In particular $\omega_{\alpha}^2 - 1 \in \mathcal{I}_0$ acts trivial and implies that for $\alpha \in \Delta$ and $\gamma \in Q$, $\mathbf{e}_{\gamma+2\alpha} - \mathbf{e}_{\gamma} \sim 0 \in \operatorname{Ver}_R(0)$. Therefore, the representation has dimension dim $(\operatorname{Ver}_R(0)) = 2^r$, where r is the rank of the finite algebra $\mathring{\mathfrak{g}}$. The action of the parabolic generators of level 0 is given in Proposition 15 in terms of the extended R-Schur polynomials $S^{0,R}(2n) = 1$ and $S^{0,R}(2n+1) = 0$ (D.5)

$$P_{0,a}^{\alpha} \mathbf{e}_{\gamma} = \epsilon(\alpha, \gamma) \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } (\alpha | \gamma) + a \text{ even} \\ \mathbf{e}_{\gamma + \alpha} & \text{if } (\alpha | \gamma) + a \text{ odd.} \end{cases}$$
(6.7)

This action allows us to analyze the decomposition of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(0)$ into \mathfrak{k} -representations.

The representation is generated from the action of $P_{0,1}^{\alpha}$ and $P_{0,1}^{(\alpha}P_{0,1}^{\beta)}$ for different $\alpha \in \Delta$ on \mathbf{e}_0 , because for $\alpha, \beta \in \Delta$, and $\alpha + 2\beta \in \Delta$, then $\beta = -\alpha$. Explicitly we obtain

$$\mathbf{e}_{0} \longrightarrow \mathbf{1}_{\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}}$$

$$P_{0,1}^{\alpha} \mathbf{e}_{0} = \mathbf{e}_{\alpha} \longrightarrow \mathrm{ad}_{\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}}$$

$$P_{0,1}^{\alpha} P_{0,1}^{\beta} \mathbf{e}_{0} = \frac{1}{2} \{ P_{0,1}^{\alpha}, P_{0,1}^{\beta} \} \mathbf{e}_{0} \subset (\mathrm{ad}_{\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}} \otimes_{\mathrm{sym}} \mathrm{ad}_{\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}}) .$$
(6.8)

The first line is a singlet under \mathfrak{k} . The second line is the adjoint representation of \mathfrak{k} and the last line takes values in the symmetric product of two adjoint representations of \mathfrak{k} . The \mathfrak{k} singlet in the last line is proportional to \mathbf{e}_0 because $P_{0,1}^{\beta}P_{0,1}^{\alpha} = \eta^{\alpha,\beta}\mathbf{e}_0$. All together, $\operatorname{Ver}_R(0) \subset \operatorname{ad}(\mathfrak{k}) \otimes \operatorname{ad}(\mathfrak{k})$. This provides some inside in the decomposition of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(0)$ into \mathfrak{k} -representations.

The basic representation is projected onto $\operatorname{Ver}_R(0)$ with the homomorphism G_0 in Theorem 18. By Proposition 28 and the Lie algebra homomorphism ρ^0 we can evaluate the projection in terms of the generating elements $\mathcal{F}_f^{0,R}$ efficiently. For the case of parabolic level zero, all Heisenberg generators act trivial and one evaluates (6.1) for k = 0. Then the projection G_0 acts on the basic representation by

$$G_0\left(e^{\gamma} \otimes \prod_{i=1}^r (v_{-l_i}^i)^{n_i}\right) = \begin{cases} (\prod_{i=1}^r (2l_i(n_i-1))!_{4l_i}) \mathbf{e}_{\gamma} & \text{for all } n_i \text{ even} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} . \end{cases}$$
(6.9)

By Corollary 24, the kernel of G_0 is a \mathfrak{k} -invariant subspace. For instance all elements of the basic representation which contain in vertex operator realization an odd power of a indexed simple root are in the kernel of G_0 .

6.2.2 Parabolic level one

Let us decompose the parabolic level one representations $\operatorname{Ver}_R(1)$. The states of the representation are

$$\operatorname{Ver}_{R}(1) = \left\{ \mathbf{e}_{\gamma} , \ R_{1,a}^{\alpha^{i}} \mathbf{e}_{\gamma} \mid \gamma \in Q, \ \alpha^{i} \in \Pi, \ a \in \{0,1\} \right\} .$$

$$(6.10)$$

Therefore, the representation has dimension $\dim(\operatorname{Ver}_R(1)) = 2^r + 2 \cdot r \cdot 2^r$. The states $R_{1,a}^{\alpha^i} \mathbf{e}_{\gamma}$ are strictly of parabolic level one while the states \mathbf{e}_{γ} have contributions from parabolic level zero and one. Thus, to parabolic level zero, the representation $\operatorname{Ver}_R(1)$ has 2^r number of states contained in \mathbf{e}_{γ} . The remaining states are $R_{1,a}^i \mathbf{e}_{\gamma}$, which accounts for $2 \cdot r \cdot 2^r$ number of states at parabolic level one. These are all the states of the representation and therefore, parabolic level one contribution in \mathbf{e}_{γ} are necessarily linear combinations of the $2 \cdot r \cdot 2^r$ states $R_{1,a}^{\alpha^i} \mathbf{e}_{\gamma}$.

The generators of parabolic level higher than one act trivial and the action of the other generators is given in (5.4) and in terms of the extended *R*-Schur polynomials

$$S_{\alpha}^{1,R}(2n) = 1 + 4nR_{1,0}^{\alpha}, \qquad S_{\alpha}^{1,R}(2n+1) = 4(n+1)R_{1,1}^{\alpha}.$$
(6.11)

The action of the parabolic generators is then evaluated from (5.4)

$$P_{0,a}^{\alpha} \mathbf{e}_{\gamma} = \epsilon(\alpha, \gamma) \begin{cases} 1 - 2\left(\left(\alpha|\gamma\right) + 2\right) R_{1,0}^{\alpha} & \text{if } (\alpha|\gamma) + a \text{ is odd} \\ -2(\alpha|\gamma) R_{1,1}^{\alpha} & \text{if } (\alpha|\gamma) + a \text{ is even.} \end{cases}$$

$$P_{1,a}^{\alpha} \mathbf{e}_{\gamma} = \epsilon(\alpha, \beta) R_{1,a+1+(\alpha,\beta)}^{\alpha} \mathbf{e}_{\alpha+\gamma}. \qquad (6.12)$$

On the states at level one, the generators $P_{1,a}^{\alpha}$ act trivial while the action of $P_{0,a}^{\alpha}$ is given by the commutation relations.

The homomorphism G_1 from Theorem 18 can be evaluated by Proposition 28. For parabolic level one, products of more than one Heisenberg generators act trivial. Therefore, (5.4) must be evaluated at k = 0 and k = 1 and thus, the homomorphism G_1 of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(1)$ is

$$G_{1}\left(e^{\gamma} \otimes \prod_{i=1}^{r} (v_{-l_{i}}^{i})^{n_{i}}\right) = \begin{cases} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{r} (2l_{i}(n_{i}-1))!_{4l_{i}}\right) \mathbf{e}_{\gamma} & \text{for all } n_{i} \text{ even} \\ \left(\prod_{j\neq i=1}^{r} (2l_{i}(n_{i}-1))!_{4j_{i}}\right) 4n_{j} (2l_{j}(n-2))!_{(4l_{j})} R_{1,l_{j}}^{\alpha^{j}} \mathbf{e}_{\gamma} & \text{for } n_{j} \text{ odd, } n_{i} \text{ even for } i\neq j \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \,. \end{cases}$$

$$(6.13)$$

It is straightforward to evaluate the projection of the basic representation onto even higher parabolic representations by applying Proposition 15, Theorem 18 and Proposition 28.

To obtain a better understanding of the \mathfrak{k} -representations in Proposition 15 on which the basic representation projects, we decompose these representations into $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ -representations. In general, this does not lead to new obstacles but may be achieved with standard techniques of representation theory, but it requires a suitable basis change of the generators in (2.2) to a $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ -covariant basis. Therefore it seems useful to restrict to a specific affine Kac-Moody algebra which we do in the next subsection.

6.3 Projections of \mathfrak{e}_9 basic representation

Certainly, one of the most interesting split real simply-laced affine Kac-Moody algebras is $\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)}$ with maximal compact subalgebra $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$. In this section we decompose the finite dimensional $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$ -representations $\operatorname{Ver}_R(0)$, $\operatorname{Ver}_R(1)$ and $\operatorname{Ver}_R(2)$ on which the basic representation projects under the finite compact subalgebra $\mathring{k}(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)}) = \mathfrak{so}(16)$. This is an $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariant form of the $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$ -representations which has the additional benefit, that it is significantly easier to obtain subrepresentations of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$.

Instead of performing the explicit $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -decomposition of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$, we rather apply the construction of $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariant $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$ -representations in [8] to build up $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ covariant $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$ -representations which are equivalent to $\operatorname{Ver}_R(0)$, $\operatorname{Ver}_R(1)$ and $\operatorname{Ver}_R(2)$. This is equivalent to a direct decomposition of these $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$ -representations. In this work we restrict the analysis to dimensional arguments, because the explicit analysis to show that the $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariant $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$ -representations are equivalent to $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ for some $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$ would exceed the scope of this paper. However, the explicit analysis finds important application in supergravity in two dimensions as it describes the yet unknown supersymmetry of vector fields and the decomposition of the embedding tensor into fermion bilinears. Therefore, we present it in a subsequent paper.

First, we introduce an $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariant notation of the algebras of interest. Second, we construct $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariant $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$ -representation along [8] which are equivalent to $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ for $N \leq 2$. Third, we apply these concrete results to supergravity in two dimensions.

6.3.1 $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariant formulation

A thorough introduction of $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$ and the single parabolic algebra in $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariant formulation is provided in [8] section 5.1 and 5.2. Here, only the necessary notation and identities for this work are introduced.

The finite dimensional Lie algebra $\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}$ has dimension $\dim(\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}) = 248$, its maximal subalgebra is $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ with 120 generators $X^{IJ} = -X^{JI}$ for $1 \leq I, J \leq 16$. The noncompact orthogonal complement transforms as the $128_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}$ dimensional $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -spinor representation with basis elements Y^A for $1 \leq A \leq 128$. In this $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariant formulation, the Lie bracket and the Killing form are

For $\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}$ with positive roots $\alpha \in \Delta_+$, we formally write the basic change from E^{α} and H^{α} to the $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariant basis by

$$X^{IJ} = \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta_{+}} x^{IJ}_{\alpha} \left(E^{\alpha} + E^{-\alpha} \right)$$
$$Y^{A} = \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta_{+}} y^{A}_{\alpha} \left(E^{\alpha} - E^{-\alpha} \right) + \sum_{i=1}^{R} y^{A}_{i} H^{\alpha^{i}}$$
(6.15)

For the inverse basis change one might use the coefficients x_{IJ}^{α} and y_A^{α} , y_A^i . To explicitly branch the finite dimensional $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$ -representations $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ under $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ many useful relations of the coefficients of the basis change may be derived. This explicit analysis is performed in a subsequent paper while we restrict here on dimensional arguments.

The Lie bracket of the affine algebra $\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)}$ is given by (6.14) and (2.5). Therefore, this basis change extends straightforward to the affine algebra $\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)}$ and the maximal compact subalgebra $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$. On the parabolic algebra $\mathfrak{P}(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$ the basis change is

$$A_{2k,a}^{IJ} = X^{IJ} \otimes u^{2k} \otimes r^{a} = \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta_{+}} x_{\alpha}^{IJ} P_{2k,a}^{\alpha}$$
$$S_{2k+1,a}^{A} = Y^{A} \otimes u^{2k+1} \otimes r^{a} = \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta_{+}} y_{\alpha}^{A} P_{2k+1,a}^{\alpha} + \sum_{i=1}^{r} y_{i}^{A} R_{2k+1,a}^{\alpha^{i}}.$$
 (6.16)

Setting r = 1 the double parabolic algebra restricts to the single parabolic algebra of $\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)}$ in [8] section 5.

This sets up the $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariant notation of $\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)}$, $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$ and the parabolic algebra $\mathfrak{P}(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$. Next, let us also give the $\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}$ and $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -decomposition of the first few loop levels of the basic representation

$$R(\Lambda_{0}) = \left(\mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}}\right)_{0} \oplus \left(\mathbf{248}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}}\right)_{1} \oplus \left(\mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}} \oplus \mathbf{248}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}} \oplus \mathbf{3875}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}}\right)_{2} \oplus \dots$$
$$= \left(\mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}\right)_{0} \oplus \left(\mathbf{120}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus \mathbf{128}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}\right)_{1} \oplus \left(\mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus \mathbf{120}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus \mathbf{135}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus \mathbf{1820}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus \mathbf{128}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus \mathbf{1920}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}\right)_{2} \oplus \dots$$
$$(6.17)$$

The decomposition to higher levels is in (D.6), it provides some intuition about the $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ representations to expect in the $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -branching of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ on which the basic representation projects \mathfrak{k} -covariant. For example, the basic representation does not contain at any level the $\mathbf{16}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}$ vector representation nor the conjugate spinor representation **128**_{$\mathfrak{so}(16)$}. More generally, the basic representation only contains $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -representations which are also in the root lattice of $\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}$. We use these constraints about possible $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -representations in the basic representation to construct the $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -decomposition of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ for $N \leq 2$ in the next subsection

6.3.2 Embedding of $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariant representations and applications

The plan of this subsection is to build up $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariant $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$ -representations along section 5.3 in [8] which have the same dimensions as $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ for N = 0, 1, 2 at every parabolic level. This is a strong indication that the different $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariant representations are indeed equivalent to the different $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$. Therefore, first we argue that the basic representation cannot project on a pure representation of the single parabolic algebra but only on a tensor product. Then, we sketch the construction of representations of the single parabolic algebra in [8] and we build up the representations $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ for N = 0, 1, 2 from tensor products of representations of the single parabolic algebra.

By the different action of $P_{0,0}^{\alpha}$ and $P_{0,1}^{\alpha}$ of the double parabolic generators on $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ in (6.8) it is evident that the basic representation cannot project onto pure representation of the single parabolic algebra. Therefore, the representations onto which the basic representation can be projected must be at least a tensor product of two representations of the single parabolic algebra which are pulled back to representations of \mathfrak{k} by the two different Lie algebra homomorphisms ρ_{\pm} (for details see also Footnote 5). Henceforth, we consider the tensor product of two representations Φ and Ψ of the single parabolic algebra and it remains to build up Φ and Ψ such that the tensor product is equivalent to $\operatorname{Ver}_R(0)$, $\operatorname{Ver}_R(1)$ and $\operatorname{Ver}_R(2)$. Because the representations decompose in the different parabolic levels, the analysis can be carried out for the different levels individually. Therefore, we branch Φ and Ψ in $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -representations φ_k^X and ψ_k^X where X is the index of the $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ representation and k is the parabolic level.

Now, let us describe how to construct the representations Φ and Ψ of the single parabolic algebra. One start with an $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -representations φ_0^X and ψ_0^Y at parabolic level zero. The next parabolic levels of the representation are constructed as a Verma module of the parabolic generators with positive parabolic level (6.16) acting on φ_0^X and ψ_0^Y . From the Verma module, finite dimensional representations are obtained by quotienting with subrepresentations. Here, an $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariant basis of the generators (6.16) already implies that the full representation will be $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariant.

Parabolic level zero. For $N \in \mathbb{N}$, the elements of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ at parabolic level zero are

$$\{\mathbf{e}_{\gamma} \in \operatorname{Ver}_{R}(0) \mid \gamma \in Q\} . \tag{6.18}$$

These are $2^8 = 256$ inequivalent elements by the equivalence relation (5.2). Thus, the tensor product of the two representation φ_0 and ψ_0 must have dimension 256 and the decomposition of the tensor product into $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -representations takes weights in the $\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}$ weight lattice. The general pattern of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(0)$ in (6.8) also predicts the tensor product to decompose into an $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -singlet, an $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -adjoint representation and an $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -representation in the symmetric tensor product of two $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -adjoint representations.

These constraints seem to be uniquely solved by φ_0 and ψ_0 the vector representation of $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ with components ψ_0^I and φ_0^I for $I = 1, \ldots, 16$. The action of the generators $A_{0,0}^{IJ}$ is given by $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariance, while the action of the generators $A_{0,1}^{IJ}$ is

$$A_{0,1}^{IJ} \varphi_0^I = A_{0,0}^{IJ} \varphi_0^I \qquad \qquad A_{0,1}^{IJ} \psi_0^I = -A_{0,0}^{IJ} \psi_0^I \,. \tag{6.19}$$

In fact, the tensor product of these two representation has the right dimension $16 \cdot 16 = 256$ and decomposes into representations which also appear in (6.17)

$$\mathbf{16}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \otimes \mathbf{16}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} = \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus \mathbf{120}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus \mathbf{135}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}.$$
(6.20)

The $120_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}$ is the adjoint representation and the $135_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}$ representation appears in the symmetric product of two adjoint representations $120_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \otimes_{\text{sym}} 120_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} = 1_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus 135_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus 1820_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus 5403_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}$. The singlet is

$$\psi_0^K \otimes \varphi_0^K \otimes 1 \quad \to \quad \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}$$

$$(6.21)$$

and the double parabolic generators (6.19) map this singlet into the $120_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}$ representation and the $135_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}$ representation

$$A_{0,1}^{IJ} \left(\psi_0^K \otimes \varphi_0^K \right) = 4 \psi_0^{[J} \otimes \varphi_0^{I]} \longrightarrow \mathbf{120}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}$$

$$A_{0,1}^{KL} \left(\psi^{[J} \otimes \varphi^{I]} \right) = 4 \delta^{LI} \psi_0^{(K} \otimes \varphi_0^{J)} \longrightarrow \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus \mathbf{135}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}.$$
(6.22)

as it is predicted in the general analysis in (6.8). This is the $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -decomposition of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(0)$.

Parabolic level one. Next, for $N \ge 1$ we analyze $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ at parabolic level one with elements

$$\left\{\mathbf{e}_{\gamma}, R_{1,0}^{i}\mathbf{e}_{\gamma}, R_{1,1}^{i}\mathbf{e}_{\gamma} \in \operatorname{Ver}_{R}(1) \mid \gamma \in Q, \ 1 \le i \le 8\right\}$$

$$(6.23)$$

There are $256 + 2 \cdot 8 \cdot 256$ inequivalent elements. However, 256 of these elements are of parabolic level zero and therefore, $2 \cdot 8 \cdot 256$ of these elements are of of parabolic level one. This implies restrictions on the possible $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -representations at level one in Φ and Ψ .

By the construction in [8], the level one representations of Φ and Ψ is the Verma module action of $S_{1,0}^A$ on φ_0^I and ψ_0^I

$$S_{1,0}^{A} \varphi_{0}^{I} = \Gamma_{A,\dot{A}}^{I} \varphi_{1}^{\dot{A}} + \varphi_{1}^{AI} \qquad \qquad S_{1,0}^{A} \psi_{0}^{I} = \Gamma_{A,\dot{A}}^{I} \psi_{1}^{\dot{A}} + \psi_{1}^{AI} , \qquad (6.24)$$

where $\varphi_1^{\dot{A}}$ and $\psi_1^{\dot{A}}$ are the conjugate spinor representations $\overline{\mathbf{128}}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}$, φ_1^{IA} and ψ_1^{IA} are the $\overline{\mathbf{1920}}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}$ representations and $\Gamma_{A\dot{A}}^{I}$ are the $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ gamma matrices.

Then, at level one, the tensor product of Φ and Ψ has dimensions $2 \cdot 16 \cdot (128 + 1920) > 2 \cdot 8 \cdot 256$ which is clearly larger than the dimension of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ at level one. However, the **1920**_{so(16)} representations φ_1^{IA} and ψ_1^{IA} can be quotiented from Φ and Ψ and therefore they can be set to 0 [8]. Hence, the representations Φ and Ψ are up to parabolic level one

$$\Phi^{I,\dot{A},\ldots} = \left(\varphi_0^I, \varphi_1^{\dot{A}}, \ldots\right) \qquad \Psi^{I,\dot{A},\ldots} = \left(\psi_0^I, \psi_1^{\dot{A}}, \ldots\right) \tag{6.25}$$

and the action of the double parabolic algebra is uniquely given by $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -covariance, (6.19) and (6.24). On the tensor product, up to parabolic level one, the double parabolic algebra acts by

$$S_{1,0}^{A} \left(\psi_{0}^{I} \otimes \varphi_{0}^{J} \right) = \Gamma_{A,\dot{A}}^{J} \psi_{0}^{I} \otimes \varphi_{1}^{\dot{A}} + \Gamma_{A,\dot{A}}^{I} \psi_{1}^{\dot{A}} \otimes \varphi_{0}^{J}$$

$$S_{1,1}^{A} \left(\psi_{0}^{I} \otimes \varphi_{0}^{J} \right) = \Gamma_{A,\dot{A}}^{J} \psi_{0}^{I} \otimes \varphi_{1}^{\dot{A}} - \Gamma_{A,\dot{A}}^{I} \psi_{1}^{\dot{A}} \otimes \varphi_{0}^{J}.$$
(6.26)

Indeed, these representations on the right hand side are exactly the representations to expect in $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ at parabolic level one because

$$2 \cdot \left(\mathbf{16}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \otimes \overline{\mathbf{128}}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}\right) = 2 \cdot \left(\mathbf{128}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus \mathbf{1920}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}\right)$$
$$\simeq 2 \cdot 2048 \simeq \dim(\operatorname{Ver}_{R}(1)) - \dim(\operatorname{Ver}_{R}(0)). \tag{6.27}$$

This fixes Φ and Ψ up to parabolic level one and together with parabolic level zero determines the $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -decomposition of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(1)$.

Parabolic level two. The elements in $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ for $N \ge 2$ which have contribution to parabolic level 2 are

$$\left\{\mathbf{e}_{\gamma}, R_{1,0}^{i}\mathbf{e}_{\gamma}, R_{1,1}^{i}\mathbf{e}_{\gamma}, R_{1,0}^{i}R_{1,0}^{j}\mathbf{e}_{\gamma}, R_{1,1}^{i}R_{1,0}^{j}\mathbf{e}_{\gamma}, R_{1,1}^{i}R_{1,1}^{j}\mathbf{e}_{\gamma}, R_{1,1}^{i}\mathbf{e}_{\gamma} \mid \gamma \in Q, \ 1 \le i, j \le 8\right\}$$
(6.28)

These are $256 + 2 \cdot 8 \cdot 256 + (2 \cdot 36 + 64) \cdot 256$ independent elements, however there are $256 + 2 \cdot 8 \cdot 256$ elements at parabolic level zero and one, such that

$$(2 \cdot 36 + 64) \cdot 256 = 34816 \tag{6.29}$$

independent elements remain at parabolic level 2. Let us build the representations Φ and Ψ such that the tensor product has at level 2 the same number of elements.

In [8] Section 5.3, the second parabolic level of the Φ and Ψ is evaluated and it consists of the $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -vector representation and the three form $\mathbf{560}_{\mathfrak{so}(16)}$, such that Φ and Ψ are

$$\Phi^{I,\dot{A},J,[KLM]} = \left(\varphi_0^I, \varphi_1^{\dot{A}}, \varphi_2^J, \varphi_2^{[KLM]}\right), \quad \Psi^{I,\dot{A},J,[KLM]} = \left(\psi_0^I, \psi_1^{\dot{A}}, \psi_2^J, \psi_2^{[KLM]}\right). \quad (6.30)$$

The tensor product of these two representations at parabolic level 2 has the components

$$\varphi_0^I \otimes \psi_2^J, \quad \varphi_0^I \otimes \psi_2^{[KLM]}, \quad \varphi_1^{\dot{A}} \otimes \psi_1^{\dot{A}}, \quad \varphi_2^J \otimes \psi_0^I, \quad \varphi_2^{[KLM]} \otimes \psi_0^I$$
(6.31)

which are indeed the number of elements of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ at parabolic level 2

$$16 \cdot 16 + 16 \cdot 560 + 128 \cdot 128 + 16 \cdot 16 + 560 \cdot 16 = 34816.$$
 (6.32)

Together with the decomposition of parabolic level zero and one above this is the $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ covariant form of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(2)$.

This is a quite remarkable result and shows how the basic representation projects onto a tensor product of two different 'spinor'-representations of the single parabolic algebra. However, this has even more consequences to obtain quotients of subrepresentations of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ which are also projections of the basic representation. Usually, if these quotients by subrepresentations do not correspond to a representation $\operatorname{Ver}_R(M)$ with M < N, they are very hard to identify since they must the subrepresentations must be subrepresentations of the full double parabolic algebra and not only of the single parabolic algebra. However, since we identified $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$ for $N \leq 2$ with the tensor product of Φ and Ψ , the tensor product of subrepresentations of Φ and Ψ are also subrepresentations of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$. The advantage is that the subrepresentations of Φ and Ψ are much simpler to identify, because these are representations of the single parabolic algebra. Let us discuss possible subrepresentations of interest for applications to supergravity in two dimensions.

6.3.3 Application to Supergravity in two dimensions

Different subrepresentations of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(2)$ and $\operatorname{Ver}_R(4)$ find applications in maximal supergravity in two dimensions. One application is the supersymmetry of the gauge fields of the theory while another application is the decomposition of the embedding tensor in fermion bilinears. We first introduce the $\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)}$ and $k(\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)})$ representations for the fields of interest.

For each of the two space time indices, the gauge fields of supergravity in two dimensions transform in the basic representation [15]. The fermions of the supergravity theory are $\Phi \otimes C_2$ with Φ in (6.30) but without the three form at parabolic level 2 and C_2 accounts for the two chiralities of spinors in two dimensions [7]. The supersymmetry parameter of the theory is $\epsilon^I \simeq \psi_0^I \otimes C_2$, which is $\Psi \otimes C_2$ in (6.30) but keeping only the $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -vector representation at parabolic level zero. Then, schematically the supersymmetry of the vector fields is associated to the homomorphism G_2 in (5.8) which maps onto the tensor product of

$$\epsilon^K \otimes \Phi^{I,\dot{A},J} \otimes \mathcal{C}_2 \,. \tag{6.33}$$

Only one factor of C_2 remains because the two factors of C_2 are multiplicative.

Another interesting object necessary for gauged maximal supergravity in two dimensions is the embedding tensor. On the one hand, the embedding tensor takes values in the basic representation of $\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)}$ [15] on the other hand it decomposes into fermion bilinears. This decomposition is the homomorphism G_4 in (5.8) mapping on the tensor product of the fermions

$$\Psi^{K,\dot{B},L} \otimes \Phi^{I,\dot{A},J} \otimes \mathcal{C}_2 \tag{6.34}$$

but with the same $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ -components $\psi_k^X = \varphi_k^X$. This is a subrepresentation of $\operatorname{Ver}_R(4)$.

In a subsequent paper, we extend this schematic realization of supersymmetry and the decomposition of the embedding tensor to a full description.

A Representations of double parabolic algebra

The representations of the single parabolic algebra are constructed in [8] from a Verma module starting as a $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ -representation at parabolic level zero. By the parabolic grading, every $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ -representation in this Verma module generates a subrepresentation. These subrepresentations can be quotiented from the module to obtain finite dimensional representations. This procedure extends to the double parabolic algebra

$$\left(\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}\otimes\mathbb{R}[u^{2n}]\oplus\mathring{\mathfrak{p}}\otimes u\mathbb{R}[u^{2n}]\right)\otimes\mathcal{C}_2$$
 (A.1)

but in both parameters u and $1 \neq r \in C_2$. However, r has only a \mathbb{Z}_2 grading and requires additional considerations. The Lie bracket is multiplicative in u and $r \in C_2$ and has therefore a graded structure in u and a \mathbb{Z}_2 graded structure in r. However, the universal enveloping algebra is *not* multiplicative in u and r, which equips the universal enveloping algebra with a natural graded structure in u and in r. Therefore, representations of the double parabolic algebra are graded with respect to u and r. To construct these representations we extend the construction in [8] to the double parabolic algebra.

Therefore, let us use \mathfrak{N} for the single parabolic algebra, which is obtained from \mathfrak{P} by setting r = 1 and the universal enveloping algebra of the single parabolic generators with positive power in u is $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{N}_+)$ in [8]. This extends for the double parabolic algebra to the universal enveloping algebra of double parabolic algebra with positive power in u or in r

$$\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{P}_{+}) = \mathcal{U}\left(\mathfrak{N}_{+} \cdot r \oplus \mathfrak{N}_{+} \oplus \operatorname{Sym}\left(\mathring{\mathfrak{k}} \cdot r\right)\right).$$
(A.2)

A basis of $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{P}_+)$ is given by products of elements of $\mathfrak{N}_+ \cdot r$ to the left of \mathfrak{N}_+ , which are to the right of symmetric products in $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}} \cdot r$.

Let $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathfrak{N}_+}$ be a PBW basis of $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{N}_+)$ and let $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathfrak{N}_+}$ be the set $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathfrak{N}_+}$ but with each generator of \mathfrak{N}_+ multiplied by r. Let $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathfrak{k}}$ be the PBW basis of \mathfrak{k} but with each generator

multiplied by r, then a PBW basis of $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{P}_+)$ is given by the ordered products of

$$\mathfrak{B}_{\mathfrak{P}_{+}} = \tilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{N}_{+}} \times \mathfrak{B}_{\mathfrak{N}_{+}} \times \tilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\mathfrak{k}}.$$
(A.3)

By the construction in [8], the representations of the double parabolic algebra \mathfrak{P} are constructed from the action of $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{P}_+)$ on a $\mathring{\mathfrak{k}}$ -representation at level u^0 and r^0 .

The parabolic grading in r and u allows to identify infinite many ideals by restricting to a maximal level in u and r of a representation. These ideals allow for finite dimensional representations of \mathfrak{P} , by setting the action of the ideals to zero. For example, restricting to r^0 reduces the representations of the double parabolic algebra to representations of the parabolic algebra \mathfrak{N} . Finite dimensional representation of the parabolic algebra are obtained for example by considering a maximal level u^N .

B Generalized summation

It is useful to have a notation of generalized sums over polynomials p(k), where the upper limit can be lower than the lower limit, but the sum remains finite. For a meaningful definition of generalized sum Faulhaber's formula is useful.

Let $n, N \in \mathbb{N}$ and let $p \in \mathbb{R}[k]_N$ be a polynomial of degree N, then the sum

$$P(n) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} p(k) \in n \mathbb{R}[n]_N$$
(B.1)

is a polynomial of degree N + 1 on the domain $n \in \mathbb{N}$ with a zero at n = 0 [36].⁸ The polynomial P extends uniquely to the domain $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ as a polynomial $\overline{P} \in n\mathbb{R}[n]_N$ of degree N+1. For this polynomial we derive an identity, therefore, let $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, $1 \le n \le n_0$, then in

$$P(n) = P(n_0) - \sum_{k=n+1}^{n_0} p(k),$$
(B.3)

the right hand side is a polynomial $P' \in \mathbb{R}[n]_{N+1}$ on the domain $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, $n \leq n_0$. The unique polynomial extension of P' from the domain $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, $n \leq n_0$ to $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ defines \bar{P}' , but because n_0 is arbitrary, $\bar{P}'(n) = \bar{P}(n)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and therefore $\bar{P}' = \bar{P}$. For all $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ this implies the identity

$$\bar{P}(-n) = -\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} p(-k).$$
(B.4)

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} k^{p} = \frac{1}{p+1} \sum_{r=0}^{p} {p+1 \choose r} B_{r} n^{p+1-r}$$
(B.2)

where B_r are the Bernoulli numbers. It was proven by L. Tits in 1923.

⁸The full formula for sums over monomials is called the Faulhaber formula

Now, we define the generalized sum over the polynomial p of degree N

$$\overline{\sum_{m=1}^{n}} p(m) = \overline{P}(n) \in n \mathbb{R}[n]_N \tag{B.5}$$

as the polynomial extension of $\sum_{m=1}^{n} p(m)$ from the naturals to the integers $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. By the above argument, the generalized sum satisfies for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\sum_{k=1}^{-n} p(k) = -\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} p(-k)$$
(B.6a)

$$\sum_{k=1}^{0} p(k) = -\sum_{k=0}^{-1} p(-k) = 0$$
 (B.6b)

C Definitions and Notations

We introduce some notations and frequently used definitions in this work.

Notation sets and families. We write the set of elements with an additional index by

$$\{x\}_{I} = \{x_{n} \mid n \in I\} \{x \in X\}_{I} = \{x_{n} \mid x \in X, n \in I\},$$
(C.1)

but if I is clear from the context, then we also write $\{x\} = \{x\}_I$.

Embedding and projection. For two vector spaces V, W and a homomorphism $G' : V \to W$ we say that V is *embedded* in W if G' is injective and if G' is surjective we say that $W \simeq V/(\text{Ker}(G'))$ is a *projection* of V. If the vector spaces are representations of a Lie algebra \mathfrak{l} and G' respects the action of \mathfrak{l} we also call the embedding (resp. projection) a \mathfrak{l} -embedding (resp. \mathfrak{l} -projection). If it is clear from the context we also avoid the symbol \mathfrak{l} and simply write embedding (resp. projection).

Lie algebra structure and fineness. For a Lie algebra \mathfrak{l} with a representation V, a \mathfrak{l} -structure of V is a family of \mathfrak{l} -representations $V_i \subset V$. For two \mathfrak{l} -structures A and B, we call A finer than B if $B \subset A$. If for a \mathfrak{l} -structure A holds $B \subset A$ for all \mathfrak{l} -structures B, we call A the finest \mathfrak{l} -structure.

Cosocle Filtration and composition series. Let us introduce the cosocle filtration and the infinite composition series in a series of definition and implications. For further insides see also [37]. Therefore, let l be a Lie algebra with a representation V.

- a.) A subrepresentation $V \neq W \subset V$ is maximal if for any other subrepresentation $U \in V$ hold that $W \subset U$ implies U = W or U = V. \Leftrightarrow If $W \subset V$ is maximal then, $\frac{V}{W}$ is simple.
- b.) The radical rad(V) of V is the intersection of all maximal subrepresentations of V. \Leftrightarrow The quotient $\frac{V}{rad(V)}$ is maximal semisimple.
- c.) The *cosocle* of V is the quotient by the radical $\operatorname{cosoc}(V) = \frac{V}{\operatorname{rad}(V)}$. \Leftrightarrow The cosocle is the maximal semisimple quotient of V.
- d.) The cosocle filtration resp. (radical filtration) of V is inductively defined. $V_{-1} = V$ and for $i \in \mathbb{N}_0$, V_i is the kernel of the projection of V_{i-1} to its cosocle. $\Leftrightarrow V_0$ is the radical of V and for $i \in \mathbb{N}_0$, V_{i+1} is the radical of V_i . The filtration has finite length if $J \in \mathbb{N}$ exists, such that $V_j = 0$ for j > J. Then V_J is semisimple.
- e.) A composition series of V is a family of subrepresentations $(V_i)_{0 \le i \le n}$ for an $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$V = V_0 \supset V_1 \supset \ldots \supset V_n = \{0\}$$
(C.2)

and V_i/V_{i+1} is semisimple. If $V_{n-1} \neq \{0\}$, then n is the *length* of the composition series.

- f.) An *infinite composition series* of V are subrepresentations $(V_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that
 - i.) $V_0 = V$, $V_i \supset V_{i+1}$, $V_i \neq \{0\}$.
 - ii.) The inverse limit of $(V_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ with the natural embedding $V_{i+1} \subset V_i$ is properly defined and $\lim_{\substack{\leftarrow \\ j \to \infty}} V_j = 0$
 - iii.) The quotients V_i/V_{i+1} are semisimple.

This is the proper generalization of e.). The cosocle filtration is an infinite composition series if i. and ii. hold.

D Expansions in first orders

We break down commonly used expressions into explicit expansions to make further calculations easier and to gain some intuition about the underlying concepts. Lie algebra homomorphism. The Lie algebra homomorphism from the maximal compact subalgebra to the double parabolic algebra is explicitly on the first 3 loop generators

$$\rho(\mathcal{E}_{0}^{\alpha}) = P_{0,0}^{\alpha}
\rho(\mathcal{E}_{\pm 1}^{\alpha}) = P_{0,1}^{\alpha} + 2 \sum_{k \ge 1} (\mp)^{k} P_{k,1}^{\alpha}
\rho(\mathcal{E}_{\pm 2}^{\alpha}) = P_{0,0}^{\alpha} + 4 \sum_{k \ge 1} (\mp)^{k} k P_{k,1}^{\alpha}
\rho(\mathcal{E}_{\pm 3}^{\alpha}) = P_{0,1}^{\alpha} + 2 \sum_{k \ge 1} (\mp)^{k} (1 + 2k^{2}) P_{k,1}^{\alpha}$$
(D.1)
...

$$\rho(\mathcal{H}_{\pm 1}^{\alpha}) = -2 \sum_{k \ge 1} (\pm)^{k} R_{2k+1,1}^{\alpha}
\rho(\mathcal{H}_{\pm 2}^{\alpha}) = -4 \sum_{k \ge 1} (\pm)^{k} (2k+1) R_{2k+1,1}^{\alpha}
\rho(\mathcal{H}_{\pm 3}^{\alpha}) = -2 \sum_{k \ge 1} (\pm)^{k} (8k^{2}+8k+3) R_{k,1}^{\alpha}$$
(D.2)
...

Schur Polynomials. Up to index 4, the Schur polynomials are

$$S_{n \leq -1}(\{x\}) = 0$$

$$S_{0}(\{x\}) = 1$$

$$S_{1}(\{x\}) = x_{-1}$$

$$S_{2}(\{x\}) = \frac{1}{2}x_{-2} + \frac{1}{2}x_{-1}^{2}$$

$$S_{3}(\{x\}) = \frac{1}{3}x_{-3} + \frac{1}{2}x_{-1}x_{-2} + \frac{1}{6}x_{-1}^{3}$$

$$S_{4}(\{x\}) = \frac{1}{4}x_{-4} + \frac{1}{3}x_{-1}x_{-3} + \frac{1}{8}x_{-2}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}x_{-1}^{2}x_{-2} + \frac{1}{24}x_{-1}^{4}$$
(D.3)

H-Schur Polynomials. The \mathcal{H} -Schur polynomials generate the Schur polynomials by action on 1. They are given by

$$S_{0}^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\}) = 1,$$

$$S_{1}^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\}) = -2\mathcal{H}_{1}^{\alpha},$$

$$S_{2}^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\}) = 1 + 2(\mathcal{H}_{1}^{\alpha})^{2} - \mathcal{H}_{2}^{\alpha},$$

$$S_{3}^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\}) = -2\mathcal{H}_{1}^{\alpha} - \frac{4}{3}(\mathcal{H}_{1}^{\alpha})^{3} + 2\mathcal{H}_{1}^{\alpha}\mathcal{H}_{2}^{\alpha} - \frac{2}{3}\mathcal{H}_{3}^{\alpha},$$
 (D.4)

Extended *R*-Schur Polynomials. The extended *R*-Schur polynomials $\bar{S}_{\alpha,a}^{R}(n)$ are satisfy for $n \geq 0$ the identity $\bar{S}_{\alpha,0}^{R}(2n) = \rho(S_{2n}^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\}) \text{ and } \bar{S}_{\alpha,1}^{R}(2n+1) = \rho(S_{2n+1}^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}^{\alpha}\}))$, they are given up to parabolic level 2 by

$$\bar{S}_{\alpha,0}^{R}(n) = 1 + 2nR_{1,0}^{\alpha} + (2n+n^{2})R_{1,1}^{\alpha}R_{1,1}^{\alpha} + (-2n+n^{2})R_{1,0}^{\alpha}R_{1,0}^{\alpha} + \dots$$

$$\bar{S}_{\alpha,1}^{R}(n) = 2(n+1)R_{1,1}^{\alpha} + (-2+2n^{2})R_{1,1}^{\alpha}R_{1,0}^{\alpha} + \dots$$
 (D.5)

Decomposition of basic representation $R(\Lambda_0)$ of $\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)}$. The basic representation of $\mathfrak{e}_{9(9)}$ -decomposes into $\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}$ -representations at the different levels. For the first five levels this decomposition is given by

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{R}(\Lambda_{0}) &= \left(\mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}}\right)_{0} \oplus \left(\mathbf{248}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}}\right)_{1} \oplus \left(\mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}} \oplus \mathbf{248}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}} \oplus \mathbf{3875}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}}\right)_{2} \\ &\oplus \left(\mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}} \oplus 2 \cdot \mathbf{248}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}} \oplus \mathbf{3875}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}} \oplus \mathbf{30380}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}}\right)_{3} \\ &\oplus \left(2 \cdot \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}} \oplus 3 \cdot \mathbf{248}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}} \oplus 2 \cdot \mathbf{3875}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}} \oplus \mathbf{30380}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}} \oplus \mathbf{27000}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}} \oplus \mathbf{147250}_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}}\right)_{4} \\ &\oplus \ldots \end{split}$$

$$(\mathrm{D.6})$$

The individual $\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}$ -representation can be further decomposed into the maximal compact subalgebra $\mathfrak{so}(16)$ of $\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}$

$$\begin{array}{rcl} 1_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}} & \to & 1_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \\ 248_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}} & \to & 120_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus 128_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \\ 3875_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}} & \to & 135_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus 1820_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus 1920_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \\ 30380_{\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}} & \to & 120_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus 1920_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus 7020_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus 8008_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \oplus 13312_{\mathfrak{so}(16)} \\ & \dots \end{array}$$
(D.7)

E Details in proofs

For the convenience of the interested reader, this appendix provides more details and explicit calculations of various proofs, which are not given in full detail in the main text.

Commutation of $U \in \mathcal{U}(\langle \mathcal{H} \rangle)$ with \mathcal{E}_n^r . The commutator of \mathcal{E}_n^i with $\prod_{l=1}^N \mathcal{H}_{n_l}^{j_l}$ is the group like action of \mathcal{E}_n^i on the universal enveloping of the compact Heisenberg algebra. Therefore, the commutator of \mathcal{E}_n^i with a product is the product of the commutators. For $A_{ij} = 0$, \mathcal{E}_n^i and \mathcal{H}_m^j commute. It remains to repeatedly evaluate the commutator of \mathcal{E}_N^i and products of \mathcal{H}_m^j for $A_{ij} = -1, 2$. Here, we evaluate the commutator for $A_{ij} = 2$.

Therefore, the set

$$\mathcal{P}_N \coloneqq \left\{ p = (p_1, \dots, p_N) \in \mathbb{Z}_2^N \mid p_l \in \{0, 1\} \right\}, \qquad |p| \coloneqq \sum_{l=1}^N p_l.$$
(E.1)

is useful. In this notation, the commutator is

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{E}_{n}^{i}, \prod_{i=1}^{N} \mathcal{H}_{n_{l}}^{i} \end{bmatrix} = (-1)^{N} \left(\sum_{p \in P_{N}} (-1)^{|p|} (\frac{1}{2} \mathcal{E}_{n+\sum_{i=1}^{N}(-1)^{p_{l}}n_{l}}^{i} \right) \\ + (-1)^{N-1} \sum_{k_{1}=1}^{N} \mathcal{H}_{n_{k_{1}}}^{i} \left(\sum_{p \in P_{N-1}} (-1)^{|p|} \mathcal{E}_{n+\sum_{k_{1}\neq i=1}^{n}(-1)^{p_{l}}n_{l}}^{i} \right) \\ + (-1)^{N-2} \sum_{k_{1}=1}^{N} \sum_{k_{2}=k_{1}+1}^{N} \mathcal{H}_{n_{k_{1}}}^{i} \mathcal{H}_{n_{k_{2}}}^{i} \left(\sum_{p \in P_{N-1}} (-1)^{|p|} \mathcal{E}_{n+\sum_{k_{1},2\neq i=1}^{n}(-1)^{p_{l}}n_{l}}^{i} \right) \\ + \dots \\ + (-1)^{1} \sum_{k_{1}=1}^{N} \sum_{k_{2}=k_{1}+1}^{N} \cdots \sum_{k_{N-1}=k_{N-2}+1}^{N} \mathcal{H}_{n_{k_{1}}}^{i} \mathcal{H}_{n_{k_{2}}}^{i} \dots \mathcal{H}_{n_{k_{N-1}}} \\ \left(\sum_{p \in P_{1}} (-1)^{|p|} \mathcal{E}_{n+\sum_{k_{1},2,\dots,N-1\neq i=1}^{n}(-1)^{p_{l}}n_{l} \right),$$
(E.2)

where $k_{1,2,...} \neq i$ means $i \neq k_1, i \neq k_2, ...$. The commutator for $A_{ij} = -1$ has additional factors of $-\frac{1}{2}$.

Proof Lemma 9. The evaluation of (4.12) in the proof of Lemma 9 is in detail

$$S_{N}^{\mathcal{H}}(\{\mathcal{H}\}^{i}) = \frac{2}{N+1} \sum_{n=1}^{N+1} \left(S_{N-2n+1}^{\mathcal{H}} - \mathcal{H}_{n} S_{N-n+1} \right)$$

$$= \sum_{p \ge 0} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{p}} \delta_{(p+N+1)mod2,0} \sum_{n=1}^{N+1} \frac{2}{N+1} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{N+1} \Theta(N-2n+1-deg(k)) - \left(\frac{nk_{n}}{2}\right) \right) d_{k}(\mathcal{H}^{i})^{k}$$

$$= \sum_{p \ge 0} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{p}} \delta_{(p+N+1)mod2,0} \Theta(N+1-p) \frac{2}{N+1} \left(\left\lfloor \frac{N+1-p}{2} \right\rfloor + \sum_{n=1}^{N+1} \left(\frac{nk_{n}}{2}\right) \right) d_{k}(\mathcal{H}^{i})^{k}$$

$$= \sum_{p \ge 0} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{p}} \delta_{(p+N+1)mod2,0} \Theta(N+1-p) \frac{2}{N+1} \left(\frac{N+1-p}{2} + \frac{p}{2} \right) d_{k}(\mathcal{H}^{i})^{k}$$

$$= \sum_{p \ge 0} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{K}_{p}} \delta_{(p+N+1)mod2,0} \Theta(N+1-p) d_{k}(\mathcal{H}^{i})^{k}.$$
(E.3)

Proof Proposition 15. To prove the commutation of \mathcal{E}_m^{α} with \mathcal{E}_n^{β} on $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$, we argued with the commutation relations of the basic representation this translates to the commutation relations on $\operatorname{Ver}_R(N)$. For the readers convenience, we illustrate this in more detail here.

Let us define a map \tilde{G}_N from the basic representation onto the Ver_R(N) by

$$\tilde{G}_N(e^{\gamma} \otimes f(\{\alpha\})) = \mathcal{F}_f^{N,R}(\{R\})\mathbf{e}_{\gamma}$$
(E.4)

for $\gamma \in Q$ and f a polynomial. By the definition of the generating elements \mathcal{F}_{f}^{R} the homomorphism \tilde{G}_{N} commutes with the compact Heisenberg algebra. By the action of \mathcal{E}_{m}^{α} on \mathbf{e}_{γ} (5.4) and by its action on the maximal states (4.1), \tilde{G}_{N} commutes with \mathcal{E}_{n}^{α} on maximal states. Additionally, by construction \mathcal{E}_{m}^{α} and the parabolic Heisenberg algebra satisfy the commutation relations. This is enough to prove the commutation relations of \mathcal{E}_{m}^{α} and \mathcal{E}_{n}^{β} on \mathbf{e}_{γ}

$$\mathcal{E}_{m}^{\alpha}\mathcal{E}_{n}^{\beta}\mathbf{e}_{\gamma} = \epsilon(\beta,\gamma) \left(\mathcal{E}_{m}^{\alpha}S_{-n-(\beta|\gamma)-1}^{\mathcal{H}}\tilde{G}_{N}(e^{\gamma+\beta}\otimes 1) + \mathcal{E}_{m}^{\alpha}S_{n+(\beta|\gamma)-1}^{\mathcal{H}}\tilde{G}_{N}(e^{\gamma-\beta}\otimes 1) \right)$$
(E.5)

Here, let us just consider the first term in the sum, the other term works the same. We use the commutation relations of \mathcal{E}_m^{β} and the compact Heisenberg algebra in (3.7) with $J' = J(S_{-n-(\beta|\gamma)-1}^{\mathcal{H}}), U' = U(S_{-n-(\beta|\gamma)-1}^{\mathcal{H}})$. Then, the first term becomes

$$\sum_{j=1}^{J'} U_{j}^{\prime \alpha} \mathcal{E}_{m}^{\alpha} \tilde{G}_{N} \left(e^{\gamma + \beta} \otimes 1 \right) = \tilde{G}_{N} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{J'} U_{j}^{\prime \alpha} \mathcal{E}_{m}^{\alpha} e^{\gamma + \beta} \otimes 1 \right) = \tilde{G}_{N} \left(\mathcal{E}_{m}^{\alpha} \mathcal{E}_{n}^{\beta} e^{\gamma} \otimes 1 \right) .$$
(E.6)

The same argument holds for the second term in (E.5) as well. Therefore, for all $\gamma \in Q$

$$\left(\mathcal{E}_{n}^{\alpha}\mathcal{E}_{m}^{\beta}-\mathcal{E}_{m}^{\beta}\mathcal{E}_{n}^{\alpha}-\left[\mathcal{E}_{n}^{\alpha},\,\mathcal{E}_{m}^{\beta}\right]\right)\mathbf{e}_{\gamma}\,=\,\tilde{G}_{N}\left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{n}^{\alpha}\mathcal{E}_{m}^{\beta}-\mathcal{E}_{m}^{\beta}\mathcal{E}_{n}^{\alpha}-\left[\mathcal{E}_{n}^{\alpha},\,\mathcal{E}_{m}^{\beta}\right]\right)e^{\gamma}\otimes1\right)\,=\,0\,.$$
(E.7)

This proves the third step of the proof of Proposition 15 in detail.

References

- G. Rousseau. "On forms of Kac-Moody algebras". In: Proceedings of Symposia in pure Mathematics. Vol. 56. 1994, pp. 393–399.
- [2] V. G. Kac. Infinite dimensional Lie algebras. 1990.
- [3] I. B. Frenkel and V. G. Kac. "Basic Representations of Affine Lie Algebras and Dual Resonance Models". In: *Invent. Math.* 62 (1980), pp. 23–66. DOI: 10.1007/B F01391662.
- G. Segal. "Unitarity Representations of Some Infinite Dimensional Groups". In: Commun. Math. Phys. 80 (1981), pp. 301–342. DOI: 10.1007/BF01208274.

- P. Goddard and D. Olive. Kac-Moody and Virasoro Algebras. World Scientific, 1988. DOI: 10.1142/0485.
- S. Berman. "On generators and relations for certain involutory subalgebras of kacmoody lie algebras". In: *Communications in Algebra* 17.12 (1989), pp. 3165–3185.
 DOI: 10.1080/00927878908823899.
- [7] H. Nicolai and H. Samtleben. "On K(E(9))". In: Q. J. Pure Appl. Math. 1 (2005), pp. 180-204. DOI: 10.4310/PAMQ.2005.v1.n1.a8. arXiv: hep-th/0407055.
- [8] A. Kleinschmidt, R. Köhl, R. Lautenbacher, and H. Nicolai. "Representations of Involutory Subalgebras of Affine Kac–Moody Algebras". In: Commun. Math. Phys. 392.1 (2022), pp. 89–123. DOI: 10.1007/s00220-022-04342-9. arXiv: 2102.00870 [math.RT].
- [9] B. Julia. "Group Disintegrations". In: Conf. Proc. C 8006162 (1980), pp. 331–350.
- [10] R. P. Geroch. "A Method for generating solutions of Einstein's equations". In: J. Math. Phys. 12 (1971), pp. 918–924. DOI: 10.1063/1.1665681.
- [11] P. Breitenlohner and D. Maison. "On the Geroch Group". In: Ann. Inst. H. Poincare Phys. Theor. 46 (1987), p. 215.
- [12] H. Nicolai. "The Integrability of N = 16 Supergravity". In: *Phys. Lett. B* 194 (1987). Ed. by A. Salam and E. Sezgin, p. 402. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(87)91072-0.
- [13] H. Nicolai and N. P. Warner. "The Structure of N = 16 Supergravity in Twodimensions". In: Commun. Math. Phys. 125 (1989), p. 369. DOI: 10.1007/BF 01218408.
- [14] H. Nicolai and H. Samtleben. "Integrability and canonical structure of d = 2, N=16 supergravity". In: *Nucl. Phys. B* 533 (1998), pp. 210-242. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(98)00496-9. arXiv: hep-th/9804152.
- [15] H. Samtleben and M. Weidner. "Gauging hidden symmetries in two dimensions". In: JHEP 08 (2007), p. 076. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2007/08/076. arXiv: 0705.2606 [hep-th].
- [16] T. Ortiz and H. Samtleben. "SO(9) supergravity in two dimensions". In: *JHEP* 01 (2013), p. 183. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP01(2013)183. arXiv: 1210.4266 [hep-th].
- G. Bossard, F. Ciceri, G. Inverso, A. Kleinschmidt, and H. Samtleben. "E₉ exceptional field theory. Part I. The potential". In: *JHEP* 03 (2019), p. 089. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP03(2019)089. arXiv: 1811.04088 [hep-th].
- G. Bossard, F. Ciceri, G. Inverso, A. Kleinschmidt, and H. Samtleben. "E₉ exceptional field theory. Part II. The complete dynamics". In: *JHEP* 05 (2021), p. 107. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP05(2021)107. arXiv: 2103.12118 [hep-th].

- [19] G. Bossard, F. Ciceri, G. Inverso, and A. Kleinschmidt. "Consistent Kaluza-Klein Truncations and Two-Dimensional Gauged Supergravity". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 129.20 (2022), p. 201602. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.129.201602. arXiv: 2209.02729 [hep-th].
- [20] G. Bossard, F. Ciceri, G. Inverso, and A. Kleinschmidt. "Maximal D = 2 supergravities from higher dimensions". In: JHEP 01 (2024), p. 046. DOI: 10.1007/JHE P01(2024)046. arXiv: 2309.07232 [hep-th].
- [21] G. Bossard, M. Cederwall, and J. Palmkvist. "Teleparallel Geroch geometry". In: (Feb. 2024). arXiv: 2402.04055 [hep-th].
- [22] P. Goddard, W. Nahm, David I. Olive, and A. Schwimmer. "Vertex Operators for Nonsimply Laced Algebras". In: *Commun. Math. Phys.* 107 (1986), p. 179. DOI: 10.1007/BF01209391.
- [23] E. Del Giudice, P. Di Vecchia, and S. Fubini. "General properties of the dual resonance model". In: Annals Phys. 70 (1972), pp. 378–398. DOI: 10.1016/0003-4916(72)90272-2.
- [24] A. J. Feingold and I. B. Frenkel. "A hyperbolic Kac-Moody algebra and the theory of Siegel modular forms of genus 2". In: *Mathematische Annalen* 263.1 (Mar. 1983), pp. 87–144. DOI: 10.1007/bf01457086.
- [25] V. G. Kac, R. V. Moody, and M. Wakimoto. "On E10". In: Differential Geometrical Methods in Theoretical Physics. Ed. by K. Bleuler and M. Werner. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 1988, pp. 109–128. DOI: 10.1007/978-94-015-7809-7_5.
- [26] M. Bauer-Violette and D. Bernard. In: Letters in Mathematical Physics 42.2 (1997), pp. 153–166. DOI: 10.1023/a:1007317602691.
- [27] R. W. Gebert and H. Nicolai. "On E(10) and the DDF construction". In: Commun. Math. Phys. 172 (1995), pp. 571–622. DOI: 10.1007/BF02101809. arXiv: hep-th /9406175.
- [28] T. Damour, M. Henneaux, and H. Nicolai. "Cosmological billiards". In: Class. Quant. Grav. 20 (2003), R145–R200. DOI: 10.1088/0264-9381/20/9/201. arXiv: hep-th/0212256.
- [29] T. Damour and H. Nicolai. "Eleven dimensional supergravity and the E(10)/E(E10) sigma-model at low A(9) levels". In: 25th International Colloquium on Group Theoretical Methods in Physics. Oct. 2004. arXiv: hep-th/0410245.
- [30] T. Damour, A. Kleinschmidt, and H. Nicolai. "Hidden symmetries and the fermionic sector of eleven-dimensional supergravity". In: *Phys. Lett. B* 634 (2006), pp. 319–324. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2006.01.015. arXiv: hep-th/0512163.

- [31] H. Nicolai. "Gravitational billiards, dualities and hidden symmetries". In: 100 Years Of Relativity : space-time structure: Einstein and beyond (2005). Ed. by Abhay Ashtekar, pp. 39–75. DOI: 10.1142/9789812700988_0002. arXiv: gr-qc/0506031.
- [32] A. Kleinschmidt and H. Nicolai. "E(10) cosmology". In: JHEP 01 (2006), p. 137.
 DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2006/01/137. arXiv: hep-th/0511290.
- [33] A. Kleinschmidt and H. Nicolai. "Maximal supergravities and the E(10) coset model".
 In: Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 15 (2006), pp. 1619–1642. DOI: 10.1142/S0218271806009005.
- [34] A. Kleinschmidt, H. Nicolai, and J. Palmkvist. "K(E(9)) from K(E(10))". In: JHEP 06 (2007), p. 051. DOI: 10.1088/1126-6708/2007/06/051. arXiv: hep-th/0611314.
- [35] A. Kleinschmidt and H. Nicolai. "Generalised holonomies and K(E₉)". In: *JHEP* 09 (2021), p. 054. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP09(2021)054. arXiv: 2107.02445 [hep-th].
- [36] C. G. J. Jacobi. "De usu legitimo formulae summatoriae Maclaurinianae." lat. In: Journal für die reine und angewandte Mathematik 12 (1834), pp. 263-272. URL: ht tp://eudml.org/doc/146908.
- [37] Y. Hu and H. Wang. "On the mod p cohomology for GL₂: the non-semisimple case". In: Cambridge Journal of Mathematics 10.2 (2022), pp. 261–431. DOI: 10.4310/cj m.2022.v10.n2.a1.